FACTORS RELATED TO MENTAL HEALTH STIGMA AMONG CHURCH-AFFILIATED AFRICAN AMERICANS

A THESIS IN

Clinical Psychology

Presented to the Faculty of the University of Missouri-Kansas City in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

MASTER OF ARTS

By TACIA R. BURGIN

B.S., University of Kansas, 2019

Kansas City, Missouri 2022

© 2022

TACIA RENEICE BURGIN

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

FACTORS RELATED TO MENTAL HEALTH STIGMA AMONG CHURCH-AFFILIATED AFRICAN AMERICANS

Tacia R. Burgin, Candidate for Master of Arts Degree
University of Missouri-Kansas City, 2022

ABSTRACT

African Americans make up 13% of the U.S. population, yet represent nearly 20% of persons diagnosed with a mental illness. Studies suggest African Americans experience higher levels of mental health related stigma (MHS) than whites. In addition, African Americans have the highest rate of church attendance compared to all other racial/ethnic groups, and they are more likely to seek counsel from religious leaders. Although there is a growing body of research on MHS with African Americans, few studies have explored MHS predictors among church-affiliated African Americans – a population that may be important to examine given studies have shown that African American churches have great influence on health behaviors and beliefs among their members. This study used the Health Stigma and Discrimination Framework's key constructs (e.g., domains, facilitators, stigma marking, manifestations) to guide examination of predictors (e.g., mental health fear, awareness, and social support, cultural and social norms, access to mental health services, demographics, mental health conditions, and mental health-related stigma beliefs) of MHS among an African American church-affiliated population. Baseline survey data from the religiously-tailored

Healthy Actions to Impact Mind and Soul (Healthy AIMS) pilot intervention study, which focused on mental health screening and linkage to care services and took place in four African American churches (N=200 participants) in Kansas City, MO, was used to determine potential predictors of mental health stigma for examination. Most participants were female (79.5%), church members (78.5%) and an average age of 53 (SD = 17). Participants endorsed moderate to high levels of MHS (M = 39.03; SD = 6.8; range 11-55). Results indicated that social support (support from others and beliefs), collaborative and self-directive religious coping, and engaging in religious activities (e.g., thinking of God, meditating, praying) were significantly related to MHS. Linear regression analysis indicated that self-directive religious coping was a positive predictor of MHS. African Americans may engage in self-directive religious coping due to negative beliefs about the connection between having a mental illness and religiosity/spirituality. Future interventions may consider addressing MHS through providing tailored education and offering screening in a trusted setting, such as African American churches.

The faculty listed below, appointed by the Dean of the College of Arts and Sciences have examined a thesis titles "Factors Related to Mental Health Stigma Among Church-Affiliated African Americans," presented by Tacia R. Burgin, candidate for the Master of Arts degree, and certify that in their opinion it is worthy of acceptance.

Supervisory Committee

Jannette Berkley-Patton, Ph.D., Committee Chair Department of Biomedical and Health Informatics

> Melisa Rempfer Ph.D. Department of Psychology

> Joah L. Williams Ph.D. Department of Psychology

CONTENTS

| ABSTRACT | iii |
|--|-----|
| LIST OF TABLES | ix |
| LIST OF FIGURES | X |
| Chapter | |
| 1. INTRODUCTION | 1 |
| Mental Health and African Americans | 2 |
| Depression | 3 |
| Anxiety | 4 |
| PTSD | 4 |
| Substance Use | 5 |
| Suicide | 6 |
| Factors Contributing to Mental Health Inequities Including Limited Men Health Service Seeking Among African Americans | |
| Age | 7 |
| Medical Mistrust | 8 |
| Limited Access to Mental Health Information and Services | 9 |
| Underdiagnoses When Treatment is Sought | 11 |
| Mental Health Stigma | 11 |
| The Health Stigma and Discrimination Framework | 12 |
| The Stigma and Discrimination Framework: A Guide to Examine Menta Health Stigma Among African Americans | |
| Drivers | 16 |
| Fears About Mental Health Issues | 16 |
| Awareness About Mental Health | 17 |
| Social Support and other Beliefs About Mental Health Services | 18 |

| | Facilitators | 18 |
|---------|---|----|
| | Cultural Norms (Religious Beliefs and Behaviors) | 18 |
| | Social Norms (Discrimination) | 20 |
| | Inequality and Access to Mental Health Services | 20 |
| | Stigma Marking: Intersecting Stigmas | 22 |
| | Demographics | 22 |
| | Mental Health Conditions and Chronic Disease Related Stigma | 24 |
| | Manifestations | 25 |
| | Mental Health-related Stigma Beliefs | 25 |
| | The Black Church: A Setting to Address Mental Health Stigma Among Americans | |
| | Study Rationale and Hypotheses | 29 |
| 2. MET | THOD | 31 |
| | Setting, Participants and Procedures | 31 |
| | Survey Measures | 32 |
| | Drivers | 32 |
| | Facilitators | 33 |
| | Stigma Marking/Intersecting Stigmas | 34 |
| | Manifestations | 36 |
| | Data Analysis | 36 |
| 3. RES | ULTS | 38 |
| | Preliminary Analysis | 39 |
| | Linear Regression | 44 |
| 4. DISC | CUSSION | 46 |
| | Limitations | 53 |
| | Conclusion | 54 |

| APPENDIX | 56 |
|------------|----|
| REFERENCES | 66 |
| VITA | 87 |

LIST OF TABLES

| Table | | Page |
|-------|--|------|
| 1 | Adapted Framework Domains for Mental Health-Related Stigmatization among African Americans | 15 |
| 2 | Participants Characteristics (Frequencies, Means and Standard Deviations) | 39 |
| 3 | Variables Related to Mental Health Stigma (Chi-square Analyses) | 41 |
| 4 | Variables Related to Mental Health Stigma (Means; T-test Analyses) | 42 |
| 5 | Predictors of Mental Health Stigma (B, Significance Values) | 44 |

LIST OF FIGURES

| Figure | | Page | |
|--------|---|------|--|
| 1. | The Health and Discrimination Framework | 14 | |

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Mental health issues are among the most prevalent health conditions in the United States (U.S.; CDC, 2018) and have risen by 13% in the past decade (WHO, 2020). According to the CDC (2018), 50% of adult Americans will be diagnosed with a mental illness in their lifetime. Between 2017 and 2018, mental illness diagnoses increased by over 1.5 million Americans and increased again between 2019 and 2020 (CDC, 2020; Mental Health America [MHA], 2020; National Institute of Mental Health [NIMH], 2021). The most prevalent mental illnesses include depressive disorders (affecting approximately 7% of the U.S. population) and anxiety disorders (affecting approximately 19% of the U.S. population; National Alliance on Mental Illness [NAMI], 2019). Major depressive disorder (MDD) – a mood disorder characterized by sad, empty or irritable mood and physical and/or mental changes that impair a person's ability to function on a daily basis, is a leading cause of disability worldwide (NIMH, 2019; WHO, 2020). MDD affects over 250 million people and is a contributor to the great global burden of chronic disease (NIMH, 2019; WHO, 2020). In the U.S., MDD affects nearly 7% of Americans each year (NIMH, 2019). Furthermore, suicide continues to represent the 10th leading cause of death in the U.S., and rates have continued to grow, especially in racial/ethnic minority populations (National Institute of Health [NIH], 2020). Over \$193.2 billion is spent on serious mental illness costs each year (any mental disorder resulting in functional impairment substantially interfering with one's everyday life), and nearly \$300 billion is spent on untreated mental illness costs per year (CDC, 2018; NAMI, 2017). Since

2011, reports have indicated that over 20% of Americans report an unmet need for mental health treatment (MHA, 2020).

The SARS-CoV-2 (COVID-19) pandemic has had a significant impact on mental health. An online COVID-19 survey with U.S. adult respondents found that 41% of participants reported at least one mental or behavioral health condition (i.e., anxiety/depressive disorder, trauma-and-stressor related disorder, increased substance use; Czeisler et al., 2020). Studies indicate that the COVID-19 impact on mental health could be due to several reasons, including social isolation and loneliness from shut down orders and quarantines, and/or increased worry and stress (Panchal et al., 2021). The Common Wealth Fund (2020) conducted a study and found that the majority of individuals with mental health concerns during the early months of this pandemic were Latinos (40%) and African Americans (39%) compared to whites (29%). Recent reports on suicidal ideation during the COVID-19 pandemic indicated that nearly 11% of U.S. adult respondents reported contemplating suicide 30 days before completing the survey in June 2020; 19% of these respondents were of Hispanic origin, and 15% were non-Hispanic black respondents (Czeisler et al., 2020).

Mental Health and African Americans

African Americans represent 13.3% of the population and 16% of U.S. adults affected by mental illness (MHA, 2020). African Americans have been more likely to experience chronic stress compared to whites in their lifetime (Rodriquez et al., 2018). Studies indicate 10% of African American adults have been diagnosed with MDD compared to 18% whites in their lifetime. However, African Americans are

particularly burdened by MDD in the long-term, with 56% of chronic cases among African Americans and 39% among whites (Bailey et al., 2019; Watkins et al., 2015). Major depressive episodes have also increased by up to 3% in African Americans aged 12-49 between 2015 and 2018 (from 9-10% for ages 12-17, 6-9% for ages 18-25, 6-7% for ages 26-49; MHA, 2020). Other more prevalent mental health illness disparities experienced by African Americans are described below and indicate a need to increase African Americans' access to professional mental health services.

Depression

Although the lifetime prevalence of depression is lower in African Americans compared to whites, some studies indicate that depression may be greatly underdiagnosed among African Americans even when they seek treatment. Sauceda and colleagues (2021) have found mixed results in their studies focused on Latinx and African American participants' somatization of depression and have reported that presentation of somatic symptoms instead of classic psychological symptoms among African Americans may contribute to misdiagnosis and underdiagnoses of depression. Furthermore, African Americans living with depression often have more difficulties with other health conditions (e.g., hypertension, cardiovascular disease, liver disease, arthritis, obesity; Hankerson et al., 2011; Watkins et al., 2015) that disproportionately affect African Americans (American Heart Association, 2009; Chapman et al., 2005; Hankerson at el., 2011), which can contribute to depression. This is possibly due to limited social and medical support related to managing chronic health conditions and lack of self-care due to having a mental illness (Assari, 2014). Studies have also reported that African Americans with MDD often show more somatic symptoms,

such as insomnia, restlessness, and early morning awakening, compared to their white counterparts (Hankerson at al., 2011).

Anxiety

Around 31% of American adults experience an anxiety disorder in their lifetime (NIMH, 2017). Anxiety symptoms have more than tripled for African Americans, from 8% to 34%, since 2019 (Fowers & Wan, 2020). A separate study found varying rates across anxiety disorder types in African Americans (social anxiety: 9%; generalized anxiety: 5%; panic: 4%; PTSD: 9%; The Recovery Village, 2020). Similar to other mental illnesses, anxiety disorders in African Americans is often underdiagnosed. However, African Americans tend to have increased exposure to social issues (e.g., victimization, oppression) that can contribute to symptoms or risk factors for anxiety (Himle et al. 2009). There is also a lack of screening (MHA, 2020), research and knowledge about anxiety among African American populations (Williams et al., 2013). Research has found that discrimination, homelessness, and exposure to violence are among various social factors that also contribute to increasing rates of anxiety among African Americans or that hinders them from seeking treatment (Anxiety and Depression Association of America [ADAA], 2020; Williams, 2018).

PTSD

Post-traumatic stress disorder is most common among African Americans with a lifetime prevalence of around 9% compared to whites at around 7% (Roberts et al., 2011, The Recovery Village, 2020). Much like other anxiety disorders, exposure to violence is highly related to PTSD, and African Americans tend to be more

chronically exposed to community violence (Sheats et al., 2018). Research has found that hearing about, witnessing, and being a direct victim of violence are predictors of PTSD (Gollub et al., 2019). In particular, African American youth are at a greater risk for PTSD compared to other races by over 25% due to high exposure to community violence (ADAA, 2020). In a study with nearly 310 million participants, African Americans and other non-whites, uninsured individuals, and those living in low income areas were less likely to seek trauma care for PTSD compared to others (Carr et al., 2017).

Substance Use

The 2018 National Survey on Drug Use and Health found that over 7% of African Americans have a substance use disorder, which is similar to 7% in the general U.S. population (Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration [SAMHSA], 2020). They also found that, compared to 3% of the total population, almost 4% of African Americans have an illicit drug use disorder. Moreover, a separate national study found that over 13% of African Americans were engaged in illicit drug use compared to whites at 12% in 2018 (Kaliszewski, 2020). A similar prevalence of misuse of opioids and other prescription drugs has been reported among African Americans when compared to the general U.S. population at the rate of 4% (National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH), 2020). Over one million African Americans misused prescription pain relievers in 2019 (SAMHSA, 2020). Furthermore, substance and illicit drug use are more prevalent among African American individuals with mental health issues compared to those without mental health issues (MHA, 2020). Although studies have reported that whites are the

majority users of illicit drugs in the U.S. (SAMHSA, 2020), African Americans are less likely to be prescribed opioids for pain compared to whites. Research also suggests that African Americans are less likely to have access to medication-assisted treatment compared to whites (SAMHSA, 2020).

Suicide

In 2018, the number of deaths due to suicide among African Americans of all ages was over 15 per 100,000 people compared to whites at 37 per 100,000 people (The Office of Minority Health, 2021). African Americans have reported high levels of both risk and protective factors for suicide. Studies have shown that risk factors for suicide among African Americans include substance use, racism and discrimination, mood and anxiety disorders, and prior suicide attempts (Suicide Prevention Resource Center, 2018). Also, African Americans who identify as lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and queer (LGBTQ+) tend to be at a greater risk for suicidal behavior. For example, Price-Feeney and colleagues (2020) found that 44% of African American LGBTQ+ youth participants considered suicide and 18% attempted suicide in 2019. Additionally, African Americans living at or below the poverty level are twice as likely to report serious psychological distress which may result in suicide (The Office of Minority Health, 2021). Reports on protective factors against suicide with African American populations include religiosity, social support, contacts with caregivers, and effective mental health care (Suicide Prevention Resource Center, 2018).

Despite the disproportionate rates of several mental illnesses among African Americans compared to other races/ethnicities (e.g., chronic MDD, PTSD, substance

use disorder, suicide among special African American populations), African Americans are still less likely to seek professional treatment compared to others (Broman, 2012). In 2018, over 58% of young adult African Americans (aged 18-25) and over 50% of African American adults (aged 26-49) who could have benefitted from professional mental health services had not received them (MHA, 2020).

Factors Contributing to Mental Health Inequities Including Limited Mental Health Service Seeking Among African Americans

Studies have reported that several individual, social, and structural factors contribute to mental health disparities that burden African Americans. Multilevel factors including age, limited mental health treatment seeking, medical mistrust, underdiagnoses, limited access to mental health information and services, and mental health stigma are discussed below.

Age

SAMHSA's 2018 national survey on drug use and mental health reported that a difference in depression rates existed across African American age groups, with the highest rates found in adolescence (ages 12-17 at 10%, 18-25 at 9%, and 26-49 at 6%; MHA, 2020). Heary and colleagues (2017) found that children's beliefs and attitudes towards others with mental illnesses, such as attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) or depression, may be shaped by implicit messages provided from their family and community. More specifically, African American adolescents have reported being more likely to distance themselves from peers with a mental illness (Dupont-Reyes et al., 2019). Although research has reported that depression is more prevalent among adolescents, depression in older adults is less likely to be identified

and treated (Conner et al., 2010). Still, Conner and colleagues (2010) found that many older African American adults with mental illnesses in their study would not seek help because of their personal beliefs, such as being too old for treatment to work and treatment should be used for young adults who can benefit more, and/or have expressed limited faith in mental health treatment, medical mistrust, and limited access to treatment.

Medical Mistrust

Distrust in professional mental health care providers is another barrier that has been associated with a lack of mental health treatment seeking among African Americans (Hankerson & Weissman, 2012). For example, Conner and colleagues (2010) found that African American participants had many apprehensions about being treated for a mental illness, including concerns about treatment approaches and difficulties trusting a provider of a different race and ethnicity. Past research has suggested that African Americans have more trust in and prefer health care professionals of the same race and ethnicity (Goode-Cross & Grim, 2014). Studies have reported that having a provider of the same race and ethnicity may decrease the level of discrimination, racism, and bias a person may experience in receiving health care services (Huerto, 2020). However, African American mental health care providers are in limited supply (NIMH, 2020). The majority of professional mental health care providers are non-Hispanic whites (76% of all psychiatrists, 95% of all psychologists, 80% of all counselors, and 90% of all psychiatric nurses; Buche et al., 2017). Therefore, finding an African American provider may be challenging. To address these issues, the NIMH has created a strategic plan to address diversity and

inclusion of mental health professions. The goal of this plan, NIH Neuroscience Development for Advancing the Careers of a Diverse Research Workforce (R25), is to encourage individuals from underrepresented communities to pursue studies or careers in neuroscience, and biomedical/behavioral science research (NIMH, 2020), and to help to address concerns about having more representation and more selection of preferred mental health providers among underserved populations, such as African Americans.

Limited Access to Mental Health Information and Services

Studies have also shown that racial/ethnic minorities are at risk for low health literacy (e.g., ability to find, or enable individuals to find, understand, and use information and services to inform health related decisions for themselves and others; CDC, 2021), which may impair their access to mental health services. Fifty-eight percent of African American adults in a 2003 National Assessment of Adult Literacy were found to have basic or low health literacy (Muvuka et al., 2020). A separate study found that African Americans and their families were less likely to recognize mental health symptoms (Alegría et al., 2012). Discriminatory practices and systemic factors (e.g., limited educational opportunities, racism, health system mistrust, lack of culturally tailored health information) are some of the social issues that have created barriers to accessing general health information and care (Muvuka et al., 2020). In addition, African Americans- a population that tends to have lower monthly incomes than whites (e.g., African Americans earning an average of \$41,361 compared to whites at \$70,642 in 2018; Long & Dam, 2020)- have limited access to professional

mental health care due to the cost of mental health services (Kawaii-Bogue et al., 2017).

The average cost of care for annual health insurance for single coverage was \$7,188 and \$20,576 for family coverage in 2019 (Kaiser Family Foundation, 2019; Leonhardt, 2019). The median annual household income among African Americans was around \$42,000 compared to whites at nearly \$68,000 in 2018; thereby, health insurance costs could potentially consume up to half of the African American household income (U.S. Census Bureau, 2021). Additionally, most health insurance plans cover only a percentage of the costs of mental health services (Miner, 2020). For example, a 2019 Kaiser Family Foundation (KFF) survey found that employers paid an average of 82% of health insurance for single coverage and 70% for family coverage (KFF, 2020), which could leave a significant financial burden for the uncovered coverage. Transportation is another barrier that may impede access to mental health services for many African Americans (Kawaii-Bogue et al., 2017). Sharma and colleagues (2017) conducted a study on geographic access to professional mental health providers in California. They found that mental health care facilities were more likely to be placed in high-income areas highly populated by whites compared to low-income racial minority areas, suggesting racial minorities and/or those living in lower-income areas may have difficulty in accessing a professional mental health provider due to the need to travel longer distances to receive services.

Underdiagnoses When Treatment is Sought

Studies have shown that underdiagnoses of mental health illnesses among African Americans could be due to a number of factors, including clinician bias, cultural differences in presentation of mental illness symptoms, and misdiagnosis (Bailey et al., 2019). For example, Gara and colleagues (2019) examined electronic medical records (N=1,657 total; 36% African American) from a community behavioral health clinic. Findings indicated that 19% of African Americans who screened positive for MDD were given a diagnosis of schizophrenia at a significantly higher rate (three percent) compared to whites. Although primary care physicians have guidelines to screen for various mental health issues more routinely during visits, African Americans have been half as likely to be screened for depression compared to whites (Akincigil & Matthews, 2017).

Mental Health Stigma

Past research has indicated that stigma is also a prominent contributor to mental health inequities and service seeking among African Americans (Hankerson & Weissman, 2012; Heath, 2017; Phelan et al., 2019). Studies suggest that, among African Americans, stigma related to mental health is considered to be a barrier in seeking mental health treatment (Conner et al., 2010; Hankerson & Weissman, 2012; Williams et al., 2014). Yet, few studies have examined predictive factors contributing to mental health stigma among African Americans or persons of African descent (e.g., DeFreitas et al., 2018; Matthews et al., 2006). Fewer of these studies have been guided by theoretical or conceptual models (e.g., Taylor & Kuo, 2019) that could help guide the design of culturally-appropriate interventions to reduce mental health

stigma as a barrier of mental health service use among African Americans, and ultimately could be a contributing strategy to reducing mental health inequities. The Health Stigma and Discrimination Framework (Stangl et al., 2019) is a potential model to help expand the understanding of stigma and mental health among African American populations and increase use of mental health services.

The Health Stigma and Discrimination Framework

Stigma has been defined as "an attribute that is deeply discrediting" and declines someone "from a whole and usual person to a tainted, discounted one" (Goffman, 1963). Health-related stigma, in particular has been found to be enacted in two forms: self-stigmatizing beliefs - or perceived stigma (internalizing attitudes that one will be discriminated against based on their mental illness), and public stigma (either being stigmatized because of mental illness from others or stigmatizing others because of their mental illness; Corrigan & Rao, 2012). Studies have shown that persons with a mental illness are among the most stigmatized groups in society (Stuart, 2008; WHO, 2001). Being a member of a highly stigmatized group, such as people living with disabilities, being a member of a race/ethnic minority group, and persons living with HIV is a risk factor for the development of mental health problems (Dinos, 2014; Parker & Aggleton, 2003). Although past research has found that mental health-related stigma has decreased from 2007 to 2017 (from 64% to 46% perceived and 11% to 6% personal; American Psychiatric Association, 2018), mental health stigma still remains a key barrier to seeking professional treatment for most, and particularly among ethnic minority populations (APA, 2017).

The Health Stigma and Discrimination Framework (Stangl et al., 2019) was developed to help guide the design of health-related stigmatization reduction interventions, including those focused on mental health. According to this framework, there are four domains in the stigmatization process: drivers and facilitators, stigma "marking", stigma manifestations, and outcomes. Drivers are explained as negative health-related thoughts and behaviors that range from fear of infection from contact with someone living with a communicable disease to beliefs that people with mental health issues are dangerous, responsible for their problem, and should be ashamed. Facilitators are explained as both positive and negative external influences on behaviors (e.g., cultural/social/gender norms, occupational safety standards, health policy). This framework states that the drivers and facilitators determine whether Stigma Marking - applying stigma to people or groups according to their differences (e.g., health conditions, race, occupation) - occurs. Stigma manifestations are described as stigma experiences and practices (i.e., experienced discrimination, experienced stigma, internalized/self-stigma, perceived stigma, and secondary/associative stigma) due to stigma marking. These experiences and practices lead to health-related outcomes, such as lack of treatment seeking, low selfefficacy, low self-esteem, and poor quality of life.

HEALTH & SOCIAL IMPACTS Incidence, morbidity, mortality, quality of life, social inclusion **Outcomes** Key areas for national monitoring **Affected Populations Organizations and Institutions** Access to justice, right to health (access and acceptability), Laws and policies, media, right to health (availability and quality), uptake of testing, adherence to treatment, resilience, and advocacy law enforcement practices, social protections **Manifestations** Key areas for research, intervention and program monitoring **Stigma Experiences Stigma Practices** Experienced stigma and Stereotypes, prejudice, stigmatizing behavior, discrimination, internalized, perceived, discriminatory attitudes anticipated, secondary stigma Stigma 'Marking' Race, gender, sexual Health condition-related orientation, occupation, **Intersecting stigmas** stigma class-related stigma **Drivers** & **Facilitators** Fear of infection, fear of social and Cultural norms, social and gender norms and economic ramifications, authoritarianism, equality, occupational safety standards, legal environment, health policy lack of awareness, social judgment, blame, stereotypes, prejudice Individual Interpersonal Organizational Community **Public Policy**

Figure 1. The Health and Discrimination Framework

(Stangl et al., 2019)

The Health Stigma and Discrimination Framework: A Guide to Examine Mental Health Stigma Among African Americans

The Health Stigma and Discrimination Framework was created to be used globally and across various health conditions that are commonly stigmatized,

including HIV, cancer, and mental health. This framework can be used to examine predictors contributing to mental health stigma particularly when adapted for populations with a history of poor mental health outcomes (e.g., LBGTQ+ community; Banerjee & Nair, 2020). Stangl and colleagues (2019) have reported that there can be differences in mental health-related stigma marking based on race (e.g., greater embarrassment for Somalian participants compared to African American participants with mental illness) and gender (e.g., men experiencing increased stress when speaking about mental illness compared to women, specific mental illnesses are seen as feminine such as eating disorders). They have also reported differences in drivers based on fear (e.g., fear of persons with mental illness providing childcare or marrying into their family). The table below describes how the framework's four domains can be adapted to examine mental health-related stigmatization among African Americans, particularly in the church context.

Table 1Adapted Framework Domains for Mental Health-Related Stigmatization among

African Americans

| Drivers | Facilitators | Stigma Marking: Intersecting Stigmas | Manifestations (Stigmatizing Practices) |
|---|--|---|--|
| Fears (Mental health issues) Awareness (Mental health) Social support (support from others and social beliefs) | Cultural norms (Religious activities) Social norms (Discrimination) Access to mental health services | Demographics Age Gender Sexual orientation SES (education; health insurance) Mental health conditions | Mental health-related stigma beliefs (Stereotypes and prejudices) |

Drivers

Fears About Mental Health Issues

Past studies have reported that many African Americans withhold information regarding mental illness for various reasons. Some of these reasons include concern of hurting the family, ruining their career, having people think they are "crazy", not wanting to appear weak, shame, and fear (Neely-Fairbanks et al., 2018). In their review, Pescosolido & Martin (2015) found that many African Americans have the fear that people with mental illnesses are dangerous, prefer to distance themselves from others with mental illness and wish to not be labeled as someone with a mental illness. Another study focused on African American's perception of mental illness and treatment seeking found that one of the main barriers for treatment seeking was fear of shame from others and unwanted feelings of vulnerability (Avent Harris et al., 2020). Studies have also suggested that African Americans tend to commonly have fears that mental illness is an extremely severe health condition, and therefore, for someone to seek help, they have to undergo extremely severe treatment (e.g., need for inpatient hospitalization; DeFreitas et al., 2018).

Other fears about mental health expressed by African Americans have also focused on issues regarding use of mental health services. For example, African Americans with previous experiences with mental health professionals have been found to be less likely to seek professional mental healthcare for current needs (Alang, 2019; Broman, 2012). Studies have suggested that this may be due to fears that they will be discriminated against in the mental healthcare system, similar to how they feel discriminated against in the general healthcare system and that they may

have difficulty in navigating the system (e.g., Alang, 2019; Haynes et al., 2017). Furthermore, research has suggested that African Americans are less trusting of psychiatric medications due to known or perceived side effects, efficacy, and the belief that some treatments may be addictive (Hankerson et al., 2011; Watkins et al., 2015).

Awareness About Mental Health

As stated previously, a majority of African Americans have been found to have average to below average health literacy (Muvuka et al., 2020). Studies with African Americans have found that they tend to be less likely to recognize mental health symptoms (e.g., Alegría et al., 2012). For example, Ward and colleagues (2013) examined awareness of mental health illness symptoms among African American men and women. They found that majority of participants could identify hostility, suicidal ideation, becoming suddenly scared for no known reason, experiencing panic or terror episodes, and desiring to bring harm to others as symptoms of mental illness. Participants were less likely to identify heart or chest pain, nausea and upset stomach, hot and cold flashes, and sudden weakness in specific body parts as symptoms of mental illness. A separate study examining mental health literacy and treatment seeking attitudes found that African Americans were less likely to recognize symptoms of generalized anxiety compared to Latino/a and white Americans. They also stated that mental health literacy was a predictor of mental health service seeking (Cheng et al., 2018).

Social Support and other Beliefs About Mental Health Services

Studies have found that African Americans are likely to report that social support and encouragement from key peers is highly valued when seeking mental health services (Hankerson & Weissman, 2012; Lukachko et al., 2015). For example, a study examining African American men's attitudes and beliefs toward mental health screening found that participants felt more comfortable getting screened when support from friends, family, and community members was received (Bauer, 2020). Participants in this study also believed that there was no guarantee that professional mental health care providers could help them if they were experiencing a mental illness, because most mental health providers did not have the same ethnic/racial background or social life experiences as they had. Lee et al. (2021) compared African American's and Asian American's beliefs about mental health screening for various mental health illnesses and found that African Americans believed alcohol and drug use were the most important mental health problems and were less likely to endorse importance of screening for suicide, possibly due to their own personal judgements on the level of social severity of these conditions in their community.

Facilitators

Cultural Norms (Religious Beliefs and Behaviors)

Studies have indicated that various cultural beliefs and norms in the African American community regarding mental health exist – and that most are grounded in religious beliefs. Religiosity's positive impact on mental health has been found to be instrumental in improving ability to cope with stressful situations and in providing support from the faith community (Pargament et al., 2000; Ward & Brown, 2015;

Ward et al., 2013). Studies have found that African Americans tend to be highly religious and engage in religious coping at higher rates than other racial/ethnic minorities (Ward et al., 2013), which may be due to their high rates of participation in religious activities (e.g., church attendance, prayer; Watkins et al., 2015; Pew Research Center, 2008). Studies suggest that African Americans are highly likely to cope with mental illness through different religious coping strategies (e.g., prayer, reading holy scriptures; Ward et al., 2013). Studies on religious coping with African Americans conducted by Pargament et al. (2000) have found that positive religious coping (e.g., religious purification/forgiveness and religious direction/conversion) was predictive of stress-related growth, positive outcomes established from stressful events, and improved cognitive functioning.

Other studies have also found that religiosity may serve as a protective factor against mental disorders (Lukachko et al., 2015) by providing a sense of hope (Starnino, 2016), social support, and a supportive belief system (Chatters et al., 2011), especially for persons affiliated with African American churches. Furthermore, several studies have also shown that African Americans tend to prefer receipt of counseling from religious leaders (Christensen et al., 2017), primarily due to increased trust in the church or clergy members and faith that God will heal them (Neely-Fairbanks et al., 2018). Breland-Noble et al. (2015) conducted a qualitative study examining religious coping in African American youth (aged 11-17) with depression and found that religious coping is important to African American adolescents and may aid in increased professional mental health treatment seeking. However, religiosity may also be damaging to mental health, especially in

considering some studies have found that some African Americans may believe having a mental illness is spiritual problem (e.g., believing the illness is an act of the devil or a punishment from God) that can be alleviated through religious acts (e.g., prayer, fasting; Weber & Pargament, 2014).

Social Norms (Discrimination)

Racial discrimination may be a leading contributor to differences in symptomology, and thereby limited service seeking and limited treatment of depression cases among African Americans (DeFreitas et al., 2018; Dinos, 2014; Hankerson et al., 2011). This may be due to a person experiencing discrimination and attaching the discrimination to their social identity (Kilk et al., 2019), which has been found to negatively affect professional mental health treatment seeking (Clement et al., 2015). Research has identified that negative interaction with family members and daily racial/ethnic discrimination are risk factors for professional mental health treatment seeking (Taylor & Chatters, 2020). Mental health problems found to be associated with discrimination and social exclusion include PTSD, psychosis, attempted suicide, and drug dependence (Dinos, 2014). Williams (2018) reported that African Americans who have experienced racially motivated verbal abuse or physical assault have a two- and three-fold increase in the risk of common mental illnesses and psychosis.

Inequality and Access to Mental Health Services

Past research has reported that African Americans tend to have limited access to professional mental health services due to multiple factors, such as lack of access to general health information, cost of care, traveling distance to mental health services, and limited transportation (Kawaii-Bogue et al., 2017; Muvuka et al., 2020; Sharma et al., 2017; U.S. Census Bureau, 2021). It is estimated that a large proportion of African Americans need mental health services and only one in three receive them (American Psychiatric Association (APA), 2017). Older African Americans are significantly less likely to seek mental health treatment and are more likely to use other forms of coping strategies (Conner et al., 2010; Kim et al., 2020). Additionally, African American's use of mental health services may be low due to poorer quality of mental health care, higher rates of attrition from mental health treatment programs, and non-culturally tailored mental health treatment (Ward & Brown, 2015). Being uninsured, in or under the poverty level, and living in low socioeconomic areas are additional barriers among African Americans seeking mental health treatment. There are significantly less mental health resources in these areas, as well as, lack of mental health professionals of color preferred by African Americans (Buche et al., 2017).

Additionally, studies have reported that African Americans tend to seek out mental health services from clergy and other religious leaders. For example, Lukachko and colleagues (2015) found that 25% of African Americans received counseling from clergy members compared to 17% seeking professional help from psychiatrists or medical doctors. Berkley-Patton et al. (2018) reported in a health needs assessment study with African American churches that nearly half of African American church members reported seeking mental health services from their religious leaders.

Stigma Marking: Intersecting Stigmas

Demographics

Gender

Research has suggested that there may be gender differences regarding beliefs and attitudes about mental health. For example, Ward and colleagues (2013) examined African American men and women's attitudes concerning mental health and mental health stigma. They found that women often believed mental illness could be caused by stress, trauma, drug use, alcohol use, heredity, family problems, and work stress. The men agreed that mental illness could be caused by stress, trauma, drug use, alcohol use, and family problems, but not heredity and work stress. Women were also found to believe that although mental illness is chronic and cyclic, with negative consequences, they also believed it can be controlled. Both men and women reported being neutral to understanding mental illness and being affected emotionally by it. Lastly, they found that African American women appeared to be significantly more willing to seek mental health services compared to men.

Age

Middle aged men and women are more inclined to use professional help, informal support, and religious coping, compared to older adults when dealing with mental health (Ward et al., 2013). One study found that African American college students' perception of their ability to identify persons with mental illness was related to increased perceived mental health stigma (DeFreitas et al., 2018). They explained this relation by stating that the stigma may be due to perceived severity of the mental illness. Lastly, DuPont-Reyes et al. (2019) examined differences in mental health

stigma in 6th graders and found that non-Latino/black boys and girls wanted more separation from peers with mental illness compared to non-Latina white girls in particular.

SES

Higher education is associated with greater use of mental health services for whites but not for African Americans. Past research has found that previous experience with mental health treatment is associated with lower current receipt of services among African Americans likely due to medical and mental health stigma (Broman, 2012). Less education may also be a risk factor to mental health stigma and a barrier to accessing general mental health resources due to its association with life expectancy, health literacy, and quality of care received (Bound et al., 2015). Less education is also related to lower paying jobs with less benefits, such as health insurance, which studies have shown to be a barrier to accessing mental health services (Hodgkinson et al., 2017).

Sexual Orientation

Individuals who are both African American and members of the LGBTQ+ community are often exposed to multiple stigmas that intersect with mental health stigma, including poverty, homelessness, increased violence, police brutality, and discrimination (Holmes et al., 2021). Price-Feeney et al. (2020) found that 35% of African American LBGTQ+ youth 13 to 24 years old have experienced homelessness, 17% physical threats, and 52% discrimination. This study also found that 55% of African American LGBTQ+ youth reported symptoms of generalized anxiety disorder (GAD) and 63% MDD. These GAD and MDD statistics increased to 70%

and 71%, respectively, for African American transgender and nonbinary youth. A review of the literature by Williams (2018) reported that most research on mental health shows a higher prevalence of mental health problems and related issues, including mental health stigma, among African American, minority ethnic, and LGBTQ+ groups.

Mental Health Conditions and Chronic Disease Related Stigma

Many culturally tailored mental health interventions purposely restrict use of terms such as depression. Researchers have reported limited use of this term because of the stigma associated with the word among African Americans (Hankerson et al., 2018; Mynatt et al., 2008). Budhwani & De (2019) conducted a study on perceived stigma in health care settings and physical/mental health among people of color and found that perceived stigma was significantly associated with higher odds of a depression diagnosis. Moreover, a qualitative study conducted on African American men found that many of the participants did not seek treatment for depressive symptoms due to the stigma that needing treatment may threaten their masculine appearance and the desire for a space for discussion in nonjudgmental support groups (Hudson et al., 2016). Other participants endorsed complete disbelief in their depression diagnoses (Hudson et al., 2016). Villines (2020) conducted a review examining anxiety among African Americans and found that many of their participants endorsed stigmatized beliefs that anxiety is a choice or personal problem, African Americans don't experience anxiety due to biological differences across races, and African American youth do not have mental health issues. Other research has found that ethnic identity and mental health stigma were associated with anxiety

among African Americans and may result in unwillingness to report symptoms or seek professional treatment (Hopkins & Shook, 2017).

Moreover, African Americans are disproportionately affected by chronic diseases that are highly stigmatized, such as HIV/AIDS – a chronic disease that is strongly associated with HIV related stigma. For example, Berkley-Patton and colleagues (2010) found that African American church populations were highly knowledgeable about HIV but found that 42% of participants were afraid of people with HIV and over half were concerned about discrimination and experiencing stigma from others if found positive for HIV. As another example, African Americans, especially men, have the highest rates of lung cancer in the U.S. (CDC, 2020), primarily due to cigarette smoking. Lathan and Colleagues (2015) examined African American's knowledge and perspectives on lung cancer and found that their participants expressed experiencing stigma from others, which lead them to hide their lung cancer diagnoses and engage in less professional treatment seeking. These participants also believed that lung cancer gets less attention compared to other chronic diseases in African American communities.

Manifestations

Mental Health-Related Stigma Beliefs

Past research has found that many African Americans believe that depression in the African American community is more stigmatizing than in other communities (Conner et al., 2010). Some studies found that African Americans tend to believe that depression is a form of weakness – or a personal problem that can heal itself (Ward et al., 2013). Additionally, Neely-Fairbanks and colleagues (2018) found that majority

of African Americans in their study reported that their belief and reliance (70%) on God would keep them healthy both physically and mentally. Yet, other research has found African Americans are open or comfortable about disclosure regarding depression and with seeking mental health treatment (Anglin et al., 2008; Diala et al., 2001; Ward et al., 2013). However, mental illness stigma may be a factor that may keep many African Americans from seeking help and normalizing conversations about mental health (Conner et al., 2010; Hankerson et al., 2011; Ward et al., 2013).

Furthermore, research has found that African American's perceived mental health stigma can result in negative attitudes regarding treatment (DeFreitas et al., 2018). White (2019) has suggested that these negative attitudes and stigmas may originate from the case that African Americans have historically been resilient and may believe that no one has authority to suggest they have an illness, especially when considering the systemic racism and feelings exploitation by the U.S. government that many African Americans have experienced. Fripp and Carlson (2017) conducted a study on attitudes and mental health stigma among African American and Latino/a populations and found an inverse correlation between help-seeking attitudes and mental health stigma and that attitudes toward seeking help can predict participation in use of professional mental health services. Given the many fears and limited awareness that potentially drive and facilitate mental health stigma among many African Americans, and in turn may limit their access to professional mental health services, consideration should be given to accessible, trusted settings that have potential to increase reach of these services with African American populations. The African American church can serve as a positive environment for opportunities to

decrease mental health stigma beliefs and practices and increase linkage to mental health services with the populations they serve.

The Black Church: A Setting to Address Mental Health Stigma Among African Americans

The African American church has great potential to increase reach of mental health stigma reduction interventions with church-affiliated populations. Many African Americans trust the church and clergy members to provide guidance, safety, and comfort – which may position the church the ability to address drivers and facilitators related to mental health stigma (Hankerson & Weissman, 2012; Williams et al., 2014). African Americans have the highest rate of church attendance compared to all other racial/ethnic groups (Taylor et al., 2016; Pew Research Center, 2020). A study conducted with 3,570 African Americans found that 84% of respondents reported being "fairly" or "very religious," and 60% had high levels of church attendance (e.g., attending a few times a month or more; Lukachko et al., 2015). Studies have also found that African Americans with high levels of religiosity and high church attendance were less likely to seek professional mental health services. Neely-Fairbanks and colleagues (2018) found that nearly all of their church-affiliated participants stated that there should be more engagement of the church in addressing mental health literacy and linkage to care, and most expressed interest in using mental health services provided by the church.

These studies suggest that the church could greatly increase reach and influence with African American church and community members to address mental health stigma. A growing number of faith-based mental health interventions have

been tested in African American church settings (Campbell et al., 2007; Hankerson & Weissman, 2012; Mynatt et al., 2008; Pargament et al., 2000; Ward & Brown, 2015; Weissman et al., 2015; Williams et al., 2014) and have found that religious tailoring (e.g., use of community partnered participatory research [CPPR], pastoral involvement; Hankerson et al., 2018) and increasing access to services have shown promise in increasing access to mental health screening and supportive services (e.g., counseling, support groups; Pickett-Schenk, 2002), and in some cases improved mental health outcomes (e.g., substance use, MDD, anxiety; Marcus et al., 2004; Mynatt et al., 2008; Ward & Brown, 2015). Only one study could be found that addressed stigmatizing beliefs (i.e., HIV stigma) with African American church populations. Derose and colleagues (2016) conducted a church-based HIV stigma reduction intervention with African Americans and Latinos/as church members. This intervention included HIV workshops (e.g., raise awareness and knowledge about HIV and HIV testing), peer leader workshops (e.g., developing skills to discuss HIV stigma), HIV sermons (e..., the pastor gave a sermon or homily focused on HIV with the congregation), and HIV testing events. This intervention led to significant reductions in HIV stigma and increased rates of HIV testing. Yet, no church-based intervention has been designed and implemented to address mental health stigma with African American church populations or has been assessed to understand how addressing mental health stigma could potentially improve mental health outcomes and treatment seeking. Considering the reach and influence of African American churches, examining mental health stigma in the African American church context could greatly expand the literature in understanding factors that contribute to mental

health stigma and ways to culturally tailor mental health-related stigma reduction interventions for African American church settings.

Study Rationale and Hypotheses

There is a growing body of research on mental health among African

Americans. However, more research is needed on the predictive factors of mental
health stigma in the African American church context to fill gaps in the literature that
could further address increasing access to professional mental health services among
African Americans. The present study's goal was to expand the literature on
predictive factors of mental health stigma with an African American church-affiliated
population.

This study used the Health Stigma and Discrimination Framework (Stangl et al., 2019) as a guide to examine potential predictors of mental health stigma among African American church members along with community members using church outreach services (e.g., food and clothing pantries, social services, recovery programs, prison ministries, day cares). Specific domains examined from the framework included *drivers* (e.g., fears, awareness about mental health, social support), *facilitators* (e.g., cultural norms, social norms, access to mental health services), *stigma marking* (e.g., demographics, mental health conditions), and *manifestations* (e.g., mental health-related stigma beliefs). Of note, the framework has been adapted for the church context. Variables for consideration as predictors primarily have been tailored to assess key drivers, facilitators, stigma marking, and manifestations that align with examining mental health stigma with the church as the setting of interest instead of the broader African American community. Therefore, non-church context

related variables (e.g., occupational safety standards, legal environment) were not included in the current study. Also, for the current study, discriminatory attitudes were categorized as a predictor of mental health stigma due to differences in race/ethnicity being a driving factor of mental health disparities among African Americans. Additionally, this study examined stigma practices as the dependent variable due to mental health stigma attitudes or beliefs affecting the use of professional mental health treatment seeking.

Based on the literature and the Health Stigma and Discrimination framework, it was hypothesized that among the African American church-affiliated population in the current study, higher levels of mental health stigma will be associated with increased endorsement of:

- (1) fears, awareness and social support for mental health issues and services;
- (2) cultural norms (e.g., engagement in religious activities);
- (3) social norms (e.g., experienced discrimination); and
- (4) age.

It was also hypothesized that higher levels of mental health stigma will be associated with lower levels of :

- (5) access to mental health services (e.g., therapy); and
- (6) gender (e.g., male).

Lastly, a linear regression analysis was conducted as an exploratory hypothesis to examine predictors of mental health stigma.

CHAPTER 2

METHOD

Setting, Participants and Procedures

This study used baseline data collected from Healthy Actions to Impact Mind and Soul (AIMS). Healthy AIMS is a clustered, randomized religiously-tailored pilot study implemented to increase mental health screening and provide linkage to care services using faith community-engaged approaches with Kansas City, Missouri African American churches over the course of six months. Participants were recruited from four churches, and each church was randomly assigned to the intervention or comparison group. Eligibility criteria for each church included a) having a minimum of 100 African American church members, b) a pastor willing to assist in study delivery activities, c) ongoing outreach services (i.e., daycares, food/clothing programs, social services) to a minimum of 50 adult community members, and d) a commitment of two or three volunteers to deliver mental health information in their church. The churches were compensated \$1500 for assisting in study delivery and recruitment-retention activities.

Participants were recruited during church services and ongoing outreach ministries (e.g., daycares, food/clothing programs, social services). Interested individuals were screened for eligibility and completed informed consent within the church setting. Eligibility to participate in the study included: a) being aged 18 and older, b) being willing to participate in two surveys administered during and after church services, c) being willing to provide contact information (i.e., two phone numbers, mailing/email address, phone numbers for two people with whom they have

ongoing contact), and d) regularly attending church (at least once a month) or using outreach services (at least four times a year). Participants were compensated \$20 for completing the baseline survey and \$20 for completing a posttest survey at six months. Each survey took about 30-45 minutes to complete and were administered during or immediately after a designated Sunday church service or community outreach activity at their respective churches. Study procedures were approved by the University of Missouri-Kansas City Institutional Review Board.

Survey Measures

Drivers

Fears About Mental Health

Mental health fears were assessed using one question asking, "Are there any reasons you would not take advantage of church-based mental health screening?".

Only four of the nine options were used for this project to align with the construct of fear in the framework. Summed scores range from 1 to 4 with higher scores indicating higher levels of fear.

Awareness About Mental Health

Mental health awareness was assessed with 2 questions. These questions include "In your opinion, how serious is mental health in your community" and "In the last 12 months, how many people at this church/church center or at an event sponsored by this church did you talk to about any topics related to mental health" (1 = not at all serious to 4 = very serious and 1 = none to 6 = 20 or more people).

32

Social Support

Social support for mental health was assessed with two questions. These questions asked the extent of belief in statements such as "If I found out I had a mental health condition, I could get connected to resources (e.g., counseling) or receive medications for treatment" (social beliefs) and "My friends would support me in getting a mental health screening" (social support from others; 0 = not at all to 6 = very likely; 0 = not at all to 6 = very much so). Summed scores range from 0 to 30 and 0 to 36 respectively with higher scores indicating more positive social support.

Facilitators

Cultural Norms

Cultural norms were assessed using measures on religiosity. These measures included participant affiliation with the church (e.g.., church or community member). Also, six questions inquired about engagement in various religious activities (e.g., thoughts of God, prayer, meditation, attended a worship service, read scriptures/holy writings, had direct experiences with God) in the past 12 months with response categories ranging from 1 = never to 8 = more than once a day. Summed scores range from 6 to 48, with higher scores indicating engagement in religious activities/coping. Religious/spiritual coping was assessed using the RCOPE (Pargament, 1999). The RCOPE is a comprehensive measure that assesses both positive and negative methods of religious/spiritual coping. Nine RCOPE questions examined Collaborative Religious Coping (e.g., I try to make sense of the situation with God), Self-directing Religious Coping (e.g., I try to deal with my feelings without God's help), and Passive Religious Deferral coping (e.g., I don't try to cope; only expect God to take my

worries away) with response categories ranging from 1 = not at all to 4 = a great deal. Internal consistency for each scale is: collaborative religious coping (Cronbach's $\alpha = .84$), self-directive religious coping (Cronbach's $\alpha = .74$), and passive religious coping (Cronbach's $\alpha = .79$). Subscale items were summed to create three measures for each of the coping styles and scores ranged from 0 to 9 each, with higher scores indicating more religious coping.

Social Norms

Two questions were asked regarding discrimination and harassment (1 = yes, 0 = no; e.g., *Have you experienced discrimination because of your race or skin color during a healthcare visit in the past year; Have you experienced harassment because of your race or skin color by police in the past year;* Henning-Smith et al. 2013). Summed scores range from 0 to 2; higher scores indicate more experiences of discrimination and/or harassment.

Access to Mental Health Services

The survey assessed help seeking behaviors by asking about visits with a mental health professional (0 = no, 1 = yes), medications for mental health concerns in their lifetime (0 = no, 1 = yes), and counseling from a religious leader (0 = no, 1 = yes).

Stigma Marking/Intersecting Stigmas

Demographic Information

Demographic measures included age, gender at birth, race/ethnicity, sexual orientation, average monthly income and insurance coverage.

34

Mental Health Conditions

Mental health issues or mental illnesses (e.g., depression, anxiety and other stress related factors) were assessed. Depression was assessed using the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ)-9 (*Cronbach's alpha* = .81; Kroenke et al., 2001). This measure consisted of nine questions ranging from 1 = not at all to 4 = nearly every day (e.g., little interest or pleasure in doing things, feeling tired or having little energy). Summed scores range from 9 to 32, with higher scores indicating more severe depression.

Anxiety was assessed using the Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD)- 7 (*Cronbach's alpha* = .89; Spitzer et al., 2006). This scale consists of seven questions (1 = not at all sure to 4 = nearly every day; e.g., feeling nervous, anxious or on edge, trouble relaxing). Summed scores range from 7 to 28, with higher scores indicating increased anxiety.

Stress factors were assessed using the Perceived Stress Scale (*Cronbach's alpha* = .82; Cohen et al., 1983). This measure consisted of 10 questions (1 = never to 5 = very often; *e.g.*, *in the last week, how often have you been upset because of something that happened unexpectedly?*). The four positively stated items will be reversed (e.g., 1 = 5, 2 = 4, 3 = 3, 4 = 2 & 5 = 1) and then summed across all scale items to obtain scores. Four additional questions were included in this scale (1 = never to 5 = very often; *In the last week have you... dealt successfully with irritating life hassles; felt that you were effectively coping with important changes that were occurring in your life?*). Summed scores range from 14 to 64 and higher scores indicate increased levels of stress and greater vulnerability to stressful life events.

Manifestations

Mental Health-related Stigma Beliefs

Mental health stigma was assessed using the scale created by 19 Mental Illness Stigma Panel members (MISPM) consisting of individuals from SAMHSA and the Division of Adult and Community Health, CDC members, and other academic and consumer partners, examining attitudes towards people with mental illness (Kobau et al., 2010). This scale was created after the panel researched previous mental health stigma measures and considered their limitations (e.g., including vignettes, focusing on a specific disorder). The panel used items from the British Omnibus National Survey (ONS) to measure mental illness stigma. This measure consists of 11 questions regarding attitudes about mental health (1 = strongly disagree to 5 = strongly agree; e.g., I believe a person with mental illness is a danger to others; I believe a person with mental illness can eventually recover). The seven positively stated items will be reversed (e.g., 1=5, 2=4, 3=3, 4=2 & 5=1) then summed across all scale items to obtain scores. Two additional questions were included in this scale. Asking participants their level of agreement with each statement (1 = strongly disagree to 5 = strongly agree; e.g., people with mental health conditions are responsible for having their illness; scientists and doctors can be trusted to tell the truth about mental health conditions). Summed scores range from 11 to 55, with higher scores indicate increased mental health stigma.

Data Analysis

Participant characteristics were examined with descriptive statistics.

Frequencies and proportions were examined for categorical variables (e.g., gender)

and means and standard deviations were examined for continuous variables (e.g., religious activities [cultural norms], age, mental health stigma). The mental health stigma score, with a range of 11 to 55, was first examined as a continuous variable to identify the prevalence of mental health stigma among our sample. For use as the dependent variable of interest and to appropriately run independent t-tests, the mental health stigma score was dichotomized by the mean to create a low (below 35.93) and high (above 35.93) mental health stigma variable. Chi-square analyses were conducted to examine the differences between level of mental health stigma and categorical variables (e.g., awareness about mental health, access to mental health services) and mental health stigma. T-tests were used to determine significant differences in means among the continuous variables (e.g., fear, social support, religious activities [cultural norms], age, income, mental health conditions) and mental health stigma. A p-value of ≤ 0.1 was used to identify predictors from the bivariate analyses to include in the linear regression analysis. Linear regression analyses were conducted to explain the association between the potential predictive factors and mental health stigma. Data will be analyzed using IBM SPSS Statistics (Version 26) predictive analysis software.

CHAPTER 3

RESULTS

Among participants (N= 200), 78.5% were church members and 21.5% were guests or community members who used the church's outreach services (e.g., food pantry, clothing, daycare, school programs). Most participants (mean age = 53; SD = 171 range 18 – 88) were African American (95.5%, n = 191), female (79.5%, n = 159), and heterosexual (97%, n = 194), as shown in Table 2. Among participants, 55% (n = 110) had a monthly income of more than \$2501.

Seventy-three percent (n = 146) of participants reported that mental health was a very serious issue within their community and 50.5% (n = 101) had not talked to anyone at their church or church events about mental health related topics. Fifty-nine percent of participants had never visited a mental health professional (n = 117), and 18.5% (n = 37) reported taking medication for mental health concerns. Many participants endorsed never receiving counseling from a pastor or religious leader (44.5%, n = 89). On average, participants reported high levels of participation in religious activities (M = 38.9; SD = 7.1; range = 6 to 48), high levels of collaborative religious coping (M = 10.2; SD = 2.3; range = 3 to 12), moderate levels of self-directive religious coping (M = 6.5; SD = 3.0; range = 3 to 12), and low to moderate levels of passive religious coping (M = 5.4; SD = 2.6; range = 3 to 12). Participants also endorsed moderate to high levels of mental health stigma (M = 35.93; SD = 6.8; range = 11 to 55).

Preliminary Analysis

Preliminary analyses were first conducted to determine associations between each continuous and categorical variable and levels of mental health stigma (p-value of < 0.1) to include in the linear regression. Chi-square analyses were conducted with categorical variables (i.e., gender, race, sexual orientation, income, awareness of mental health issues, access to mental health services, and insurance) and level of mental health stigma. As illustrated in Table 3., there were no significant relationships between each of the categorical variables and levels of mental health stigma. Independent t-test analyses were conducted with continuous variables (i.e., age, perceived stress, depression, anxiety, fear, religious coping, religious activities, discrimination, social support and beliefs) and levels of mental health stigma. As indicated in Table 4, there were significant differences among several continuous variables and mental health stigma. Higher levels of mental health stigma were found among those who reported more frequent: receipt of social support from others (t (81.67) = -1.99, p = .05), experiences of discrimination (social norms) (t (187) = -1.64)2.67, p = .008), engagement in religious activities (cultural norms) (t (126.03) = -2.05, p = .04), collaborative religious coping (t (138.77) = -2.09, p = .04), and selfdirective religious coping (t (181.09) = -2.22, p = .03). There were no significant differences between the other continuous variables and levels of mental health stigma.

 Table 2

 Participants Characteristics (Frequencies, Means and Standard Deviations).

| % (n) | |
|-------|-------|
| | % (n) |

Church association

| Participant Characteristic | % (n) |
|--|------------|
| Member | 78.5 (157) |
| Non-member | 21.5 (43) |
| Race | |
| African American | 95.5 (191) |
| Other | 4.5 (9) |
| Gender | |
| Male | 20.5 (41) |
| Female | 79.5 (159) |
| Sexual orientation | |
| Heterosexual | 97 (194) |
| Not heterosexual | 3 (6) |
| Education | |
| Low (8th grade - some college) | 55.2 (110) |
| High (Associates degree - grad school) | 44.8 (89) |
| Income | |
| 0- 2500 | 32.5 (65) |
| 2501+ | 55 (110) |
| Health Insurance | |
| Yes | 93 (186) |
| No | 14.5 (29) |
| Marital Status | |
| Married | 35 (70) |
| Not married | 65 (130) |
| Mental health is a serious issue | |
| (awareness) | |
| Yes (somewhat- very serious) | 91 (182) |
| No (not at all- not too serious) | 9 (18) |
| Talk about mental health topics | |
| (awareness) | |
| Yes | 48 (96) |
| No | 50.5 (101) |
| Visited a mental health professional | |
| Yes | 41 (82) |
| No | 58.5 (117) |
| Counseling from religious leader | |
| Yes | 38.5 (77) |
| No | 44.5 (89) |
| Medication for mental health | |
| Yes | 18.5 (37) |

| Participant Characteristic | % (n) |
|----------------------------|------------|
| No | 80.5 (161) |

^a Unless otherwise indicated, values are numbers (percentages). Percentages may total less than 100 because of rounding or missing responses.

Table 3Differences Across Categorical Variables and Levels of Mental Health Stigma (Chisquare Analyses)

| | | | Low Mental health stigma | | High Mental health stigma | | Test statistic | P-value |
|----------------|-----|-----|-----------------------------------|-----|------------------------------------|-----|----------------|---------|
| | N | % | N | % | N | % | χ2 | P |
| Mental health | | | | | | | | |
| stigma | | | | | | | | |
| Low | 81 | 42% | | | | | | |
| High | 112 | 58% | | | | | | |
| Gender (Stigma | | | | | | | | |
| marking) | | | | | | | | |
| Male | 41 | 21% | 17 | 9% | 24 | 12% | .01 | .94 |
| Female | 64 | 33% | 64 | 33% | 88 | 46% | | |
| Race (Stigma | | | | | | | | |
| marking) | | | | | | | | |
| Other | 7 | 4% | 2 | 1% | 5 | 3% | .529 | .47 |
| African | | | | | | | | |
| American | 184 | 96% | 78 | 41% | 106 | 55% | | |
| Sexual | | | | | | | | |
| orientation | | | | | | | | |
| (Stigma | | | | | | | | |
| marking) | | | | | | | | |
| Not | | | | | | | | |
| Heterosexual | 2 | 1% | 0 | 0% | 2 | 1% | 1.45 | .23 |
| Heterosexual | 187 | 99% | 79 | 42% | 108 | 57% | | |
| Income | | | | | | | | |
| 0-2500 | 61 | 36% | 21 | 12% | 40 | 24% | 1.09 | .29 |
| 2501+ | 108 | 64% | 46 | 27% | 62 | 37% | | |

| Mental health is a serious issue (Awareness) | | | | | | | | |
|--|-----|-----|----|-----|-----|-----|------|------|
| No | 15 | 8% | 8 | 4% | 7 | 4% | .86 | .42 |
| Yes | 178 | 92% | 73 | 38% | 105 | 54% | .00 | . 12 |
| Talk about | | | | | | | | |
| mental health | | | | | | | | |
| topics | | | | | | | | |
| (Awareness) | | | | | | | | |
| No | 156 | 82% | 65 | 34% | 91 | 48% | .14 | .85 |
| Yes | 34 | 18% | 13 | 7% | 21 | 11% | | |
| Visited a mental | | | | | | | | |
| health | | | | | | | | |
| professional | | | | | | | | |
| (Access) | | | | | | | | |
| No | 113 | 59% | 48 | 25% | 65 | 34% | .07 | .79 |
| Yes | 79 | 41% | 32 | 17% | 47 | 24% | | |
| Counseling | | | | | | | | |
| from religious | | | | | | | | |
| leader (Access) | | | | | | | | |
| No | 119 | 62% | 48 | 25% | 71 | 40% | .23 | .63 |
| Yes | 73 | 38% | 32 | 17% | 41 | 21% | | |
| Medication for | | | | | | | | |
| mental health | | | | | | | | |
| (Access) | | | | | | | | |
| No | 155 | 81% | 61 | 32% | 94 | 49% | 2.16 | .14 |
| Yes | 36 | 19% | 19 | 10% | 17 | 9% | | |
| Insurance | | | | | | | | |
| No | 29 | 15% | 14 | 7% | 15 | 8% | .56 | .46 |
| Yes | 164 | 85% | 67 | 35% | 97 | 50% | | |

^a Unless otherwise indicated, values are numbers (percentages). Percentages may total less than 100 because of rounding or missing responses. * p < .05 ** p < .01 *** p < .001

Table 4 Differences Across Continuous Variables and Levels of Mental Health Stigma (Means; T-test Analyses)

| - | | | | | |
|--------------------|--------------|--|-------------|----------------|---------|
| Demographic factor | Overall mean | ean Low mental High mental health stigma health stigma | | Test statistic | P-value |
| | M(SD) | M(SD) | M(SD) | t | p |
| Mental | | | | | |
| health stigma | 35.9 (6.8) | 30.1 (6.0) | 40.1 (3.4) | - | - |
| | | | | | |
| Age | 53 (17) | 53.1 (16.9) | 51.5 (17.2) | .66 | .51 |
| Perceived | | | | | .15 |
| Stress | 39.03 (11) | 37.4 (11.7) | 39.9 (10.5) | -1.44 | .13 |
| | | | | | |
| Depression | 11.9 (4.3) | 11.9 (4.9) | 11.9 (4.0) | 05 | .96 |
| Anxiety | 10.4 (5) | | | 26 | .79 |
| Allxlety | 10.4 (3) | 10.3 (5.2) | 10.5 (5.0) | 20 | .19 |
| Reasons to | | | | | |
| not get | | | | | |
| mental health | | | | | |
| screening at | | | | | |
| your church | | | | | |
| (Fear) | .28 (.57) | .26 (.65) | .29 (.53) | 31 | .76 |
| Collaborative | | | | | |
| religious | | | | | |
| coping | | | | | |
| (Cultural | | | | | |
| norms) | 10.2 (2.3) | 9.7 (2.7) | 10.5 (2.0) | -2.09 | .04* |
| Self-directive | | | | | |
| religious | | | | | |
| coping | | | | | |
| (Cultural | | | | | |
| norms) | 6.5 (3.0) | 4.9 (2.2) | 5.7 (2.9) | -2.22 | .03* |
| Passive | | | | | |
| religious | | | | | |
| coping | | | | | |
| (Cultural | | | | | |
| norms) | 5.4 (2.6) | 6.3 (3.0) | 6.5 (3.1) | 43 | .67 |
| Religious | | | | | |
| activities | | | | | |
| (Cultural | | | | | |
| norms) | 38.9 (7.1) | 37.5 (8.2) | 39.8 (6.2) | -2.05 | .04* |
| | | | | | |

| Discriminati | | | | | |
|----------------|------------|-------------|-------------|-------|--------|
| on (Social | | | | | |
| norms) | .49 (.75) | .43 (.72) | .55 (.77) | -1.07 | .29 |
| Social | | | | | |
| support from | | | | | |
| others | | | | | |
| (Social | | | | | |
| support) | 22.9 (9.9) | 20.6 (11.6) | 24.6 (8.61) | -1.99 | .05* |
| Social beliefs | | | | | |
| (Social | | | | | |
| support) | 22.7 (9.2) | 20.8 (9.3) | 24.2 (8.7) | -2.7 | .008** |

^a Unless otherwise indicated, values are numbers (percentages). Percentages may total less than 100 because of rounding or missing responses.

Linear Regression

A linear regression was conducted to indicate predictors of mental health stigma using social support (support from others and social beliefs), religious activities (cultural norms), collaborative religious coping, and self-directive religious coping, as indicated by the independent t-test. As shown in Table 5., self-directive religious coping (B = .292, SE = .017, p = .004) was found to be a predictor of mental health stigma.

Table 5

Predictors of Mental Health Stigma (B, Significance Values)

| | 95% CI | | | | | | |
|----------------------------|---------------------------|------|-----|------|-----|--|--|
| Effect | $\boldsymbol{\mathit{B}}$ | S.E. | LL | UL | p | | |
| Social support from others | | | | | | | |
| (Social support) | 021 | .006 | 013 | .011 | .86 | | |
| Social beliefs (Social | | | | | | | |
| support) | .16 | .006 | 004 | .021 | .19 | | |
| Religious activities | | | | | | | |
| (Cultural norms) | .128 | .007 | 006 | .022 | .25 | | |

^{*}p < .05 ** p <.01 *** p < .001

| Collaborative religious | | | | | |
|--------------------------|------|------|------|------|--------|
| coping (Cultural norms) | .128 | .022 | 019 | .069 | .262 |
| Self-Directive religious | | | | | |
| coping (Cultural norms) | .292 | .017 | .017 | .086 | .004** |

^a Unless otherwise indicated, values are numbers (percentages). Percentages may total less than 100 because of rounding or missing responses. *p < .05 ** p < .01 *** p < .001 *Note*. CI = confidence interval; LL = lower limit; UL = upper limit.

CHAPTER 4

DISCUSSION

Past research has shown that mental health stigma may be a leading factor in the lack of professional mental health service seeking among African Americans (Conner et al., 2010; Hankerson et al., 2011; Ward et al., 2013). However, no studies have examined predictors of mental health stigma in the African American church population. This is important because health promotion interventions conducted among the African American church population have been found to increase the reach of health information and improve overall health outcomes in underserved African Americans (Berkley-Patton et al., 2018; Berkley-Patton et al., 2020; Hankerson et al., 2018; Lasater et al., 1986; Neely-Fairbanks et al, 2018). The current study aimed to address this gap by examining predictive factors of mental health stigma among African American church-affiliated populations. Unique to this study's population was its inclusion of community members who used church outreach ministries, such as food pantries, social services, and recovery programs. Studies have found that church-going African Americans' engagement in religious practices (e.g., prayer, attending services) can protect against mental illness (Farrer et al., 2008, Lukachko et al., 2015). However, community members may be less likely to attend church regularly and have been found to be less engaged in other religious practices (Berkley-Patton et al., 2010), and thereby may not benefit from having religiosity as a protective factor against mental illness. Nonetheless, the African American church continues to be a representation of African American culture and experience and is a place where religious and non-religious African Americans go for support (Hays,

2015). Due to their ongoing contact with community members through outreach ministries, African American churches may be well-positioned to address mental health stigma with this church-affiliated population while also supporting their mental health. Additionally, this study showed that the church is not only a prime setting to examine mental health issues among church members but can also be a prime location for implementing mental health research with its surrounding community. Further research is needed on how African American churches can partner with health organizations to disseminate mental health information to community members.

The majority of participants reported moderate to high levels of mental health stigma, which is somewhat consistent with other studies. For example, Defreitas and colleagues (2018) found high levels of perceived stigma among African Americans while overall mental health stigma levels among African American and Latinx participants were low. Similarly, Dempster and colleagues (2015) found that African American parents of children between the ages of three and eight had elevated perceptions of public stigma towards their children and themselves. Past research has suggested that possible reasons for this level of stigma among African Americans may be grounded in culturally and socially driven beliefs, such as mental illness is a weakness or personal problem (Ward et al., 2013), God will keep them healthy (Neely-Fairbanks et al., 2018), and previous mistrust for mental health professionals (White, 2019). These beliefs may further exacerbate mental health stigma and may drive decisions to not seek mental health services and to engage in unhealthy behaviors used to cope with mental illness (DeFreitas et al., 2018; Fripp & Carlson, 2017). Although this study examined many potential factors related to mental health

stigma among African Americans, there remains a need to understand additional drivers (e.g., lack of awareness, blame, stereotypes, fear of ramifications; Stangl et al., 2019) that may be related or predictive of mental health stigma especially considering mental stigma may be a barrier to seeking mental health services for many African Americans experiencing mental illnesses.

Participants in this study reported low levels of anxiety and depression and moderate levels of perceived stress. These findings are fairly consistent with studies that have reported that African Americans tend to have a lower prevalence of depression (Himle et al., 2009). However, past studies have also suggested that African Americans have been underdiagnosed for depression and anxiety (Sauceda et al., 2021). These underdiagnoses could be due to differences in presentation of somatic symptoms, lack of screening, misdiagnosis, and clinician bias which may lead to limited professional mental health service seeking (Bailey et al, 2019, Himle et al., 2009, Sauceda et al., 2021). Additionally, past research has also reported that African Americans have high rates of PTSD and perceived stress (Roberts et al., 2011, The Recovery Village, 2020). The current study's participants may have lower levels of PTSD and stress because of religion potentially acting as a protective factor against mental illness in African Americans (Lukachko et al., 2015). Furthermore, some African American populations may be more likely to have mental illness, such as depression, compared to others. For example, national studies have shown that older African American adults are less likely than other African American age groups (e.g., adolescents) to be diagnosed with mental illnesses, such as depression (SAMHSA, 2018). Depression in older African Americans may not be identified due

to their personal stigma-related beliefs (e.g., perceptions that they are too old for treatment preventing them from seeking help; Conner et al., 2010). Mental health professionals may also underdiagnose mental illness due to the presentation of other, more pronounced, health issues (e.g., dementia, chronic diseases; Assari, 2014). The population of this study was over-represented by older African Americans. Therefore, additional examination should be given to the effect of mental health stigma and treatment seeking in different age groups among the African American population. Considerations should also be given to increasing understanding on mental health stigma in relationship to other chronic diseases prevalent among African Americans.

Consistent with past studies regarding service seeking among African Americans, the majority of participants reported never visiting a mental health professional. Yet, they believed that mental health was a serious issue in their community. The lack of service seeking could be a result of concerns and disbelief of the efficacy of treatment (e.g., medication; Hankerson et al., 2011; Watkins et al., 2015), decreased ability to access mental health services due to transportation and cost (Kawaii-Bogue et al., 2017), and mental health stigma (Conner et al., 2010; Hankerson & Weissman, 2012; Williams et al., 2014). Other possible reasons may include the preference for same race providers, poor representation of African American mental health professionals and African Americans' preference to receive counsel from religious leaders. Older African Americans are among the highest religious populations and have been found to prefer using religious counsel and coping for general and mental health concerns (Christensen et al., 2017; Ward et al., 2013). Mental health services provided by religious leaders may mitigate mental

health concerns by providing services in easily accessible and trusted settings such as the African American church. Because of the high church attendance among older African American adults, collaborations between behavioral health organizations and African American churches could have great potential to reach African American populations with mental health screening and other health services by tapping the strengths of faith-based settings (e.g., high attendance rates from African Americans, support from clergy and church members; Taylor et al., 2016; Pew Research Center, 2020).

Linear regression results indicated that self-directive religious coping (e.g., coping without the help of God) was a positive predictor of mental health stigma. Self-directive religious coping could be considered as "negative" religious coping and may have the opposite effect of "positive" religious coping (e.g., religious purification/forgiveness and religious direction/conversion), which could lead to reduced stress (Pargament, Koenig and Perez, 2000). Bivariate findings indicated that in higher levels of mental health stigma were significantly associated with increased collaborative religious coping (e.g., working alongside with God). Research on religiosity and use of religious coping for mental health and mental health stigma varies. Past research has found religiosity to have a positive impact on mental health and one's ability to cope with stressful situations due to the support from the faith community (Pargament et al., 2000; Ward & Brown, 2015; Ward et al., 2013). Other research has found that many religious African Americans may have negative beliefs regarding mental illness (e.g., believing the illness is an act of the devil or a punishment from God; Weber & Pargament, 2014). Research should examine how

natural religious functions of the church (e.g., testimonials, responsive readings, sermons) can be used for mental health education on causes, symptoms, availability of services, and coping with mental illness. Health promotion interventions that have included these religious functions have found shifts in beliefs and improvement of use of health services (Berkley-Patton et al., 2020).

Although not significant in the regression analysis, higher levels of mental health stigma and were significantly associated with increased engagement in religious activities (e.g., prayer, attending worship services, reading scriptures) in the bivariate analysis, as hypothesized. Contrary to the hypothesis, there was no significant difference between mental health stigma and fears, awareness, social norms, age, access to mental healthcare, and gender. One explanation for these results could be that our sample was majority women with access to health insurance and higher income. Past studies have found that women are more open to mental health treatment (Ward et al., 2013), and having health insurance and higher incomes may be protective factors against mental health stigma (Hodgkinson et al., 2017, Kawaii-Bogue et al., 2017). Additionally, only one measure was used to assess fear. This measure asked about fear in relation to being screened for mental illness in a church setting and was not specific to fear regarding having a mental illness or mental health stigma and is a possible explanation to why there was no difference between fear and mental health stigma. Future studies should examine other fear variables regarding mental illness symptoms, repercussions of having a mental illness, self-stigma and judgment from others among African Americans. These fear variables are particularly important for African American church-populations where mental health stigma

levels may be elevated. Prioritizing male participants and those who have low income should also be considered in future mental health stigma studies because of their limited access to mental health treatment and the lack of representation in the current literature.

There was also a significant difference between levels of social support (support from others and social beliefs) and mental health stigma. The African American church has a history of being a main source of social support for church members and the surrounding community. Past research with African Americans has found social support to be a valuable strategy to address mental health concerns (Hankerson & Weissman, 2012; Lukachko et al., 2015), but little is known about how social support can negatively (or positively) impact mental health stigma in faith-based settings. Studies are needed that examine the effect of faith-based intervention strategies, such as how social support (e.g., support groups) and engagement in religious activities (e.g., prayer, attending worship services, reading scriptures) can be creatively used to assist in decreasing mental health stigma and increasing professional mental health service seeking.

Several interventions have focused on mental health in the African American church population. One intervention, Oh Happy Day Class (OHDC), focused on increasing treatment retention and satisfaction and decreasing MDD symptoms with cognitive behavioral interventions among African Americans (Ward & Brown, 2015). They found a significant decrease in depressive symptoms as well as a positive change in quality of life scores. However, differences weren't found in mental health attitudes or stigma. Additionally, Williams and colleagues (2014) examined a church-

based intervention (Promoting Emotional Wellness and Spirituality [PEWS]) to reduce stigma on depression, educate about depressive symptoms and the importance of spirituality during treatment, promote treatment seeking, and provide linkage to care information for mental health services. Their results indicated that partnerships between mental health organizations and churches that employ a community-based participatory research approach for heightened community engagement were important intervention approaches for achieving impactful mental health ministries. However, this intervention did not examine knowledge of mental illness symptoms, mental health treatment seeking, or changes in mental health stigma. These churchbased mental health interventions could examine educating African American church leaders and members on the importance of providing social support and encouraging members to combine seeking mental health services and engaging in religious activities (cultural norms). These activities may help determine the effectiveness of incorporating African American faith leaders in increasing professional mental health treatment seeking and decreasing mental health stigma.

Limitations

There are some limitations to consider when examining the results from the present study. As stated previously, and consistent with other church-based research (Berkley-Patton et al., 2018; Hankerson & Weissman, 2012), the majority of the sample for this study were women. Women may be more willing to seek mental health services (Ward et al., 2013), which may have affected the lower levels of mental health stigma reported. The majority of the sample were also older adults. The general mental health stigma score for this study may have been affected by older age

due to older individual's potential to believe they are too old for treatment, distrust in mental health treatment (Conner et al., 2010), and belief that having a mental illness is a weakness or shameful (Neely-Fairbanks et al., 2018). Age may also be associated with the amount and regularity of participation in religious activities and coping, which often acts as protective factors against mental illnesses (Farrer et al., 2008, Lukachko e al., 2015), causing an increase in social support and a decrease in reported mental illness and mental health stigma. Lastly, because the study was conducted among highly religious African Americans in the Midwest, an area considered to be included in the "Bible Belt" (Brunn et al, 2011), generalizability of the findings may be limited to faith-based populations in this region.

Conclusion

Mental health stigma is a contributor to mental health inequities and decreased service seeking among African Americans (Hankerson & Weissman, 2012; Heath, 2017; Phelan et al., 2019). In order decrease mental health stigma among African Americans, research should consider understanding predictive factors of mental health stigma. As guided by the Health Stigma and Discrimination Framework (Stangl et al., 2019), results from this study indicate that self-directive religious coping is a predictor of mental health stigma. Results also indicated that there was a significant difference between levels of mental health stigma and social support (support from others and beliefs) and religious activities (cultural norms). Research has shown that culturally and religiously tailored interventions for the African American church population tend to be more effective than non-tailored interventions (Hays & Aranda, 2016; Lee-Tauler et al., 2018). Future research should prioritize

culturally tailoring mental health interventions based upon type of religious coping and social support as well as addressing mental health stigma among older, church-affiliated African Americans in a trusted setting such as the African American church.

APPENDIX

Drivers (Fear)

| 1. 2 | b. Are there any reasons you would <u>not</u> take advantage of church-based mental health screening? (Check all that apply) |
|------|--|
| | ☐ You are concerned people will make judgments or start rumors about being screened. |
| | $\hfill\Box$ You do not feel comfortable being screened for mental health concerns in a church or church-related setting. |
| | ☐ You are not sure your screening results will be kept private. |
| | ☐ You do not want to know your mental health status at this time. |
| | Drivers (Awareness) |
| | 2. In your opinion, how serious is mental health in your community? (Check one) |
| | □ Not at all serious □ Not too serious □ Somewhat serious □ Very serious |
| | 3. In the last 12 months, how many people at this church/church center or at an event sponsored by this church did you talk to about any topics related to mental health? (<i>Check one</i>) |
| | □ None □ 1-2 people □ 3-5 people □ 6-9 people □ 10-19 people □ 20 or more people |
| | Drivers (Social Support) |
| | 4. How likely would the following people support you in getting screened for mental health concerns? (Circle one number for each statement below. Mark circle under "Don't Know" if you don't know.) |
| | |

| Support for getting a mental health screening | Not at all likely | | | | | | Very Likely | Don't Know |
|--|----------------------|---|---|---|---|---|----------------|---------------|
| My <u>friends</u> would support me in getting a mental health screening. | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 0 |
| My <u>partner/spouse</u> would support my getting a mental health screening. | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 0 |
| My church members would support my getting a mental health screening. | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 0 |
| My <u>pastor</u> would support my getting a mental health screening. | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 0 |
| My doctor would support my getting a mental health screening. | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 0 |

5. To what extent do you believe the following statements? (Circle one number for each statement below)

| I believe: | Not at all | | | | | | Very much so |
|--|---------------|---|---|---|---|---|-----------------|
| a. I can receive mental health screening at my church. | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |
| b. I can receive mental health screening at a local clinic/doctor's office. | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |
| c. The cost of a mental health screening a clinic or doctor's office is affordable or free. | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |
| d. If I received a mental health screening at church, my results would be kept confidential. | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |

| I believe: | Not at all | | | | | | Very much so |
|--|---------------|---|---|---|---|---|-----------------|
| e. If others thought I had a mental health condition, I could be treated differently or badly. | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |
| f. If I found out I had a mental health condition, I could get connected to resources (e.g., counseling) or receive medications for treatment. | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |

Facilitators (Cultural Norms)

| 6. | How | are you | connected | to | <u>this</u> | churc | h? (| (Chec | k ali | l that | appl | y) |
|----|-----|---------|-----------|----|-------------|-------|------|-------|-------|--------|------|----|
|----|-----|---------|-----------|----|-------------|-------|------|-------|-------|--------|------|----|

| □ Member |
|--|
| □ Guest |
| □ Person who received food services |
| □ Person who received health screening or participated |
| in a health fair |
| □ Person who received drug rehab services |
| □ Person who received clothing |
| □ Parent of a child in church daycare, summer school, |
| after-school program, or mentoring program |
| □ Other (please list): |

7. For the <u>past 12 months</u>, how often have you done each of the following activities? (*Mark one circle for each activity*)

| Activities | Never | Rarely | Once a month | Twice a month | Once a week | Twice a week | Almost daily | More than once a day |
|-------------------------------------|-------|--------|--------------------|---------------------|-------------------|--------------------|-----------------|-------------------------------|
| a. Thought of God | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| b. Prayed | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| c. Meditated | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| d. Attended a worship service | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |

58

| Activities | Never | Rarely | Once a month | Twice a month | Once a week | Twice a week | Almost daily | More than once a day |
|--|-------|--------|--------------------|---------------------|-------------------|--------------------|-----------------|-------------------------------|
| e. Read scriptures or holy writings | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| f. Had direct experiences with God | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |

8. The following questions are specifically about religious or spiritual ways you might cope with mental health concerns. Indicate how much you use each of the following methods to cope with mood or mental health concerns. When the items refer to God, please think of this as referring to your Higher Power.

| Health topics and screenings | Not at all | A little | A mediu m amoun t | A great deal |
|---|---------------|-------------|-------------------------------|-----------------|
| a. I don't do much; just expect God to solve my problems for me. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| b. I work together with God as partners. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| c. I try to put my plans into action together with God. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| d. I try to make sense of the situation with God. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| e. I try to deal with my feelings without God's help. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| f. I don't try much of anything; simply expect God to take control. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| g. I make decisions about what to do without God's help. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| h. I don't try to cope; only expect God to take my worries away. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| i. I try to make sense of the situation without relying on God. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |

Facilitators (Social Norms)

| 9. Have you experience healthcare visit in the | ed discrimination because of your race or skin color during a past year? |
|--|--|
| □ Yes | □ No |
| 10. Have you experier in the past year? | aced discrimination because of your race or skin color at work |
| □ Yes | □ No |
| Facilitators (Access to | o mental health care) |
| 11. Have you ever visit or psychologist? (Check One) ☐ Yes ☐ No ☐ Don't know ☐ Refuse to answer | ited a mental health professional, such as a therapist, counselor, |
| 12. Have you ever rece | eived counseling services from your pastor or religious leader? |
| □ Yes□ No□ Don't know□ Refuse to answer | |
| 13. Have you ever take | en medications for mental health concerns? |
| ☐ Yes☐ No☐ Don't know☐ Refuse to answer | |
| Stigma Marking: Inte | ersecting Stigmas (Demographics) |
| 14. How old are you? | Years Old |
| 15. Are you: (Check o | ne) □ Male □ Female |
| 16. What is your race | or ethnicity? (Check one) |
| ☐ Black or African Ar☐ White or Caucasian | nerican |

| | □ American Indian or Alaska Native □ Asian □ Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander □ More than one race □ Unknown □ Refuse to answer □ Other race: (please specify): |
|----|---|
| | 17. How do you identify yourself? (Check one) |
| | □ Heterosexual (straight) □ Homosexual (gay/lesbian) □ Bi-sexual (attracted to both men and women) □ Other □ Choose not to answer |
| 18 | 8. What is your <u>highest</u> level of education you have completed? (<i>If you attended school outside the U.S., mark the U. S. equivalent</i>) (<i>Check one</i>) |
| | □ 8th grade or below □ 9-11th grade □ High school graduate or GED □ Post high school technical training □ Some college (but no degree) |
| | 19. Do you have health insurance or coverage that helps pay for part of your medical bills? (Check all that apply) ☐ Yes, Medicare ☐ Yes, Medicaid Yes, Private Insurance (Such as Blue Cross/ Blue Shield, Kaiser, etc.) ☐ No, I do not have health insurance ☐ Yes, Some other insurance (please list): |
| | 20. For the <u>past 12 months</u> , please estimate the <u>average monthly income</u> of your household. Take into account all the sources of income from the members of your household. (<i>Check One</i>) |
| | □ \$0 - \$1,000 □ \$1,001 - \$2,000 □ \$2,001 - \$2,500 □ \$2,501 - \$3,000 □ More than \$3,000 □ Don't know |

Stigma Marking: Intersecting Stigmas (Mental Health Conditions)

21. Over the last 2 weeks, how often have you been bothered by the following problems?

| problems. | | | | |
|---|---------------|-----------------|--------------------------|--------------------|
| | Not at all | Several days | Over half the days | Nearly everyday |
| a. Feeling nervous, anxious, or on edge. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| b. Not being able to stop or control worrying. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| c. Worrying too much about different things. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| d. Trouble relaxing. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| e. Being so restless that it is hard to sit still. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| f. Being easily annoyed or irritable. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| g. Feeling afraid as if something awful might happen. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |

22. Over the last two weeks, how often have you been bothered by any of the following problems?

| | Not at all | Several days | More than half the days | Nearly every day |
|--|---------------|-----------------|-------------------------------|------------------------|
| a. Little interest or pleasure in doing things. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| b. Feeling down, depressed, or hopeless. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| c. Trouble falling or staying asleep, or sleeping too much. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| d. Feeling tired or having little energy. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| e. Poor appetite or overeating. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| f. Feeling bad about yourself – or that you are a failure or have let yourself or your family down. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| g. Trouble concentrating on things, such as reading the newspaper or watching television. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| h. Moving or speaking so slowly that other people could have noticed. Or the opposite – being so fidgety or restless that you have been moving around a lot more than usual. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| i. Thoughts that you would be better off dead, or of hurting yourself in some way. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |

23. The following questions will ask you about your <u>feelings and thoughts over the last 7 days.</u> In each case, you will be asked to indicate how often you felt a certain way. Some of the questions may sound similar, but please treat each question separately. Try to answer each question fairly quickly – do not try to count up the number of times you felt a particular way, but rather provide your best guess.

| number of times you felt a particu | nar way, | | r provide you | • | |
|------------------------------------|----------|--------|---------------|--------|-------|
| In the last week how often | Never | Almost | Sometimes | Fairly | Very |
| have you | 1,6,6, | never | Sometimes | often | often |
| a. Been upset because of | | | | | |
| something that happened | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| unexpectedly? | | | | | |
| b. Felt that you were unable to | | | | | |
| control the important things in | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| your life? | | | | | |
| c. Felt nervous or "stressed"? | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| d. Dealt successfully with | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| irritating life hassles. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| e. Felt that you were | | | | | |
| effectively coping with | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| important changes that were | U | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| occurring in your life? | | | | | |
| f. Felt confident about your | | | | | |
| ability to handle your personal | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| problems? | | | | | |
| g. Felt that things were going | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| your way? | U | U | U | U | U |
| h. Found that you could not | | | | | |
| cope with all the things that | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| you had to do? | | | | | |
| i. Been able to control | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| irritations in your life? | U | U | U | 0 | 0 |
| j. Felt that you were on top of | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| things? | U | U | U | 0 | 0 |
| k. Been angered because of | | | | | |
| things that happened that were | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| outside of your control? | | | | | |
| 1. Found yourself thinking | | | | | |
| about things that you have to | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| accomplish? | | | | | |
| m. Been able to control the | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| way you spend your time? | , | U | 0 | U | 0 |
| n. Felt that difficulties were | | | | | |
| filing up so high that you | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| could not overcome them? | | | | | |

Manifestations (Mental health stigma)

24. Please mark the response that best represents your answer to each of the following questions.

(Mark one circle for each statement below)

| (Mark one circle for e | <u>acn statemer</u> | it below) | | | |
|------------------------|---------------------|-----------|-----------|----------|----------|
| Attitudes about | Strongly | Somewhat | Uncertain | Somewhat | Strongly |
| Mental Health | Disagree | Disagree | Onceriain | Agree | Agree |
| a. I believe a | | | | | |
| person with mental | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| illness is a danger | U | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| to others. | | | | | |
| b. I believe a | | | | | |
| person with mental | | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| illness is | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| unpredictable | | | | | |
| c. I believe a | | | | | |
| person with mental | | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| illness is | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| unpredictable | | | | | |
| d. I believe a | | | | | |
| person with mental | | | | | |
| illness has only | | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| himself/herself to | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| blame for his/her | | | | | |
| condition. | | | | | |
| e. I believe a | | | | | |
| person with mental | | | | | |
| illness would | | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| improve if given | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| treatment or | | | | | |
| support. | | | | | |
| f. I believe a person | | | | | |
| with mental illness | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| feels the way we all | U | 0 | 0 | U | U |
| do at times. | | | | | |
| g. I believe a | | | | | |
| person with mental | | | | | |
| illness could pull | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| himself/herself | U | 0 | U | U | U |
| together if he/she | | | | | |
| wanted. | | | | | |
| h. I believe a | | | | | |
| person with mental | | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| illness can | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| eventually recover. | | | | | |

| Attitudes about Mental Health | Strongly Disagree | Somewhat Disagree | Uncertain | Somewhat Agree | Strongly Agree |
|---|----------------------|----------------------|-----------|-------------------|-------------------|
| i. I believe a person with mental illness can be as successful at work as others. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| j. Treatment can help people with mental illness lead normal lives. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| k. People are generally caring and sympathetic to people with mental illness. | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |

25. Please mark the response that best represents your answer on how strongly you agree or disagree with each statement. (*Mark one circle only for each statement*)

| Opinions | Strongly Disagree | Somewhat Disagree | Uncertain | Somewhat Agree | Strongly Agree |
|--|----------------------|----------------------|-----------|-------------------|-------------------|
| a. People with mental health conditions are responsible for having their illness? | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| b. Scientists and doctors can be trusted to tell the truth about mental health conditions? | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |

REFERENCES

- Akincigil, A., & Matthews, E. B. (2017). National rates and patterns of depression screening in primary care: results from 2012 and 2013. *Psychiatric Services*, 68(7), 660–666. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.201600096
- Alang S. M. (2019). Mental health care among blacks in America: Confronting racism and constructing solutions. *Health Services Research*, *54*(2), 346–355. https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.13115
- Alegría, M., Lin, J. Y., Green, J. G., Sampson, N. A., Gruber, M. J., & Kessler, R. C. (2012). Role of Referrals in mental health service disparities for racial and ethnic minority youth. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 51(7). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2012.05.005
- American Heart Association. (2009, January 27). *Heart disease and stroke statistics-2009 update*. Circulation. Retrieved November 2, 2021, from https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.108.191259.
- American Psychiatric Association (2017). *Mental health disparities: African Americans*.

 [Fact

 Sheet/Issue Brief]. Division of Diversity and Health Equity.

 https://www.psychiatry.org/psychiatrists/cultural-competency/education/african-

american-patients

health-facts.

American Psychiatric Association. (2017). *Mental health disparities: diverse populations*.

American Psychiatric Association. Retrieved November 25, 2021, from

https://www.psychiatry.org/psychiatrists/cultural-competency/education/mental-

- Anglin, D. M., Alberti, P. M., Link, B. G., & Phelan, J. C. (2008). Racial differences in beliefs
 about the effectiveness and necessity of mental health treatment. *American journal of community psychology*, 42(1), 17-24.
- Anxiety and Depression Association of America. (2020, June). *Mental health resources for the black community*. Retrieved from https://adaa.org/find-help/by-demographics/black-community.
- Assari S. (2014). Chronic medical conditions and major depressive disorder: differential role

 of positive religious coping among African Americans, Caribbean blacks and non-hispanic whites. *International Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *5*(4), 405–413.
- Avent Harris, J., Crumb, L., Crowe, A., & Garland McKinney, J. (2020). African

 Americans' perceptions of mental illness and preferences for treatment. *Journal of Counselor Practice*, 1–33. https://doi.org/10.22229/afa1112020
- Bailey, R. K., Mokonogho, J., & Kumar, A. (2019). Racial and ethnic differences in depression:
 current perspectives. *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment*, 15, 603–609.
 https://doi.org/10.2147/NDT.S128584
- Banerjee, D., & Nair, V. S. (2020). "The untold side of covid-19": struggle and perspectives of the sexual minorities. *Journal of Psychosexual Health*, 2(2), 113–120. https://doi.org/10.1177/2631831820939017
- Bauer, A. G., & Berkley-Patton, J. (2020). Exploring mental health screening and linkage to care among young African American men (dissertation). Proquest.

- Berkley-Patton, J., Bowe Thompson, C., Bradley-Ewing, A., Berman, M.,* Booker, A.,* Catley, D., Goggin, K., Williams, E., Wainright, C., Rhuland Petty, T., & Aduloju-Ajijola, N.* (2018). Identifying health conditions, priorities, and relevant multilevel health promotion intervention strategies in African American churches: a faith community health needs assessment. Evaluation and program planning. 31(67), 19-28. doi: 10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2017.10.012.
- Berkley-Patton, J. Y., Thompson, C. B., Moore, E., Hawes, S., Berman, M., Allsworth, J.,
 Williams, E., Wainright, C., Bradley-Ewing, A., Bauer, A., Delwyn, C. & Goggin, K.
 (2019). Feasibility and outcomes of an HIV testing intervention in African American churches. *AIDS and Behavior*, 23(1), 76-90.
- Berkley-Patton, J., Bowe Thompson, C., Bauer, A. G., Berman, M., Bradley-Ewing, A., Goggin, K., Delwyn, C. & Allsworth, J. E. (2020). A multilevel diabetes and CVD risk reduction intervention in African American churches: Project Faith Influencing Transformation (FIT) feasibility and outcomes. Journal of Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities, 7(6), 1160-1171.
- Berkley-Patton, J., Bowe-Thompson, C., Bradley-Ewing, A., Hawes, S., Moore, E., Williams, E., Martinez, D., & Goggin, K. (2010). Taking it to the pews: A CBPR-guided HIV awareness and screening project with Black churches. *AIDS Education and Prevention*, 22(3), 218–237. https://doi.org/10.1521/aeap.2010.22.3.218
- Bound, J., Geronimus, A. T., Rodriguez, J. M., & Waidmann, T. A. (2015). Measuring recent
 apparent declines in longevity: the role of increasing educational attainment. *Health Affairs*, 34(12), 2167-2173.

- Breland-Noble, A. M., Wong, M. J., Childers, T., Hankerson, S., & Sotomayor, J. (2015).

 Spirituality and religious coping in African-American youth with depressive illness.

 Mental Health, Religion & Culture, 18(5), 330–341.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/13674676.2015.1056120
- Broman, C. L. (2012). Race differences in the receipt of mental health services among young adults. *Psychological Services*, *9*(1), 38–48. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0027089
- Brunn, S. D., Webster, G. R., & Archer, J. C. (2011). The Bible Belt in a changing south: Shrinking, relocating, and multiple buckles. *Southeastern Geographer*, *51*(4), 513-549.
- Buche, J., Beck, A. J., & Singer, P. M. (2017). Factors impacting the development of a diverse behavioral health workforce. *Behavioral Health Workforce Research Center*. Retrieved November 2, 2021, from https://behavioralhealthworkforce.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/FA2P1_Workforce-Diversity_Final-Report.pdf.
- Budhwani, H., & De, P. (2019). Perceived stigma in health care settings and the physical and mental health of people of color in the United States. *Health Equity*, *3*(1), 73–80. https://doi.org/10.1089/heq.2018.0079
- Campbell, M. K., Hudson, M. A., Resnicow, K., Blakeney, N., Paxton, A., & Baskin, M. (2007). Church-based health promotion interventions: evidence and lessons learned. *Annu. Rev. Public Health*, 28, 213-234.
- Carr, B. G., Bowman, A. J., Wolff, C. S., Mullen, M. T., Holena, D. N., Branas, C. C., & Wiebe, D. J. (2017). Disparities in access to trauma care in the United States: A population-based analysis. *Injury*, 48(2), 332–338.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.injury.2017.01.008

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020a, September 22). *How communities can help people lower their lung cancer risk*. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Retrieved October 16, 2021, from https://www.cdc.gov/cancer/lung/communities.htm.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020b, July 1). WISQARS (Web-based Injury Statistics Query and Reporting System) Injury Center CDC. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/injury/wisqars/index.html.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2018, January 26). *About mental health*.

 Retrieved May 04, 2021, from https://www.cdc.gov/mentalhealth/learn/index.htm
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021a, September 23). *HIV and African American people*. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Retrieved October 16, 2021, from https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/group/racialethnic/africanamericans/index.html.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021b, May 19). What is health literacy?

 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.

 https://www.cdc.gov/healthliteracy/learn/index.html.
- Chapman, D. P., Perry, G. S., & Strine, T. W. (2005). Peer reviewed: the vital link between chronic disease and depressive disorders. *Preventing Chronic Disease*, 2(1).
- Chatters, L. M., Taylor, R. J., Lincoln, K. D., Nguyen, A., & Joe, S. (2011). Church-based social support and suicidality among African Americans and Black Caribbeans. *Archives of*

Suicide Research, 15(4), 337-353.

- Cheng, H.-L., Wang, C., McDermott, R. C., Kridel, M., & Rislin, J. L. (2018). Self-stigma, mental health literacy, and attitudes toward seeking psychological help. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 96(1), 64–74. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcad.12178
- Christensen, K.,* Booker, A.,* Berkley-Patton, J., Berman, M.,* Bowe-Thompson,
 C., Petty, T., & Lister, S. (2017, March). Factors linked to utilization of counseling services from religious leaders in African American church community. Poster presented at the 38th Annual Meeting Scientific Session of the Society of Behavioral Medicine, San Diego, CA. March 2017.
- Clement, S., Williams, P., Farrelly, S., Hatch, S. L., Schauman, O., Jeffery, D., ... & Thornicroft, (2015). Mental health–related discrimination as a predictor of low engagement with mental health services. *Psychiatric Services*, 66(2), 171-176.
- Cohen, S., Kamarck, T., & Mermelstein, R. O. B. I. N. (1983). Perceived stress scale (PSS). *J Health Soc Beh*, 24, 285.
- Common Wealth Fund. (2020, September 10). New Survey: Black and Latino Americans face greater mental health, economic challenges from covid-19 than white Americans. [Press Release]. Retrieved from https://www.commonwealthfund.org/press-release/2020/new-survey-black-and-latino-americans-face-greater-mental-health-economic.
- Conner, K. O., Copeland, V. C., Grote, N. K., Rosen, D., Albert, S., McMurray, M. L., Reynolds, C. F., Brown, C., & Koeske, G. (2010). Barriers to treatment and culturally endorsed coping strategies among depressed African-American older adults. *Aging & Mental Health*, 14(8), 971–983. https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2010.501061

- Corrigan, P. W., & Rao, D. (2012). On the self-stigma of mental illness: Stages, disclosure, and strategies for change. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 57(8), 464-469.
- Czeisler, M. É, Lane, R. I., Petrosky, E., Wiely, J. F., Christensen, A., Njai, R., . . . Rajaratnam, S. M. (2020, August 13). Mental health, substance use, and suicidal ideation during the COVID-19 pandemic United States, June 24–30, 2020.

 Retrieved November 15, 2020, from

 https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/69/wr/mm6932a1.htm
- Diala, C. C., Muntaner, C., Walrath, C., Nickerson, K., LaVeist, T., & Leaf, P. (2001).

 Racial/ethnic differences in attitudes toward seeking professional mental health services. *American Journal of Public Health*, 91(5), 805.
- Derose, K. P., Griffin, B. A., Kanouse, D. E., Bogart, L. M., Williams, M. V., Haas, A. C., Flórez, K. R., Collins, D. O., Hawes-Dawson, J., Mata, M. A., Oden, C. W., & Stucky, B. D. (2016). Effects of a pilot church-based intervention to reduce HIV stigma and promote HIV testing among African Americans and Latinos. *AIDS and Behavior*, 20(8), 1692–1705. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-015-1280-y
- DeFreitas, S. C., Crone, T., DeLeon, M., & Ajayi, A. (2018). Perceived and personal mental health stigma in Latino and African American college students. *Frontiers in Public*
- Dempster, R., Davis, D. W., Faye Jones, V., Keating, A., & Wildman, B. (2015). The role of stigma in parental help-seeking for perceived child behavior problems in urban, low-income African American parents. *Journal of Clinical Psychology in Medical Settings*, 22(4), 265-278.

- Dinos, S. (2014). Stigma creating stigma: a vicious circle. *The Psychiatric Bulletin*, 38(4), 145-147.
- DuPont-Reyes, M. J., Villatoro, A. P., Phelan, J. C., Painter, K., & Link, B. G. (2019).
 Adolescent views of mental illness stigma: An intersectional lens. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 90(2), 201–211. https://doi.org/10.1037/ort0000425
- Farrer, L., Leach, L., Griffiths, K. M., Christensen, H., & Jorm, A. F. (2008). Age differences in mental health literacy. *BMC Public Health*, 8(1), 125.
- Fowers, A., & Wan, W. (2020, June 12). *Depression and anxiety spiked among black***Americans after George Floyd's death. The Washington Post.

 https://www.washingtonpost.com/health/2020/06/12/mental-health-george-floyd-census/.
- Fripp, J. A., & Carlson, R. G. (2017). Exploring the influence of attitude and stigma on participation of African American and Latino populations in mental health services. *Journal of Multicultural Counseling and Development*, 45(2), 80-94.
- Gara, M. A., Minsky, S., Silverstein, S. M., Miskimen, T., & Strakowski, S. M. (2019). A naturalistic study of racial disparities in diagnoses at an outpatient behavioral health clinic. *Psychiatric Services*, 70(2), 130-134. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.201800223
- Goffman, E. (1963). Stigma: notes on the management of spoiled identity (No. HV4967G6).
- Gollub, E. L., Green, J., Richardson, L., Kaplan, I., & Shervington, D. (2019). Indirect violence exposure and mental health symptoms among an urban public-school population: Prevalence and correlates. *PLOS ONE*, *14*(11). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0224499

- Goode-Cross, D. T., & Grim, K. A. (2014). An unspoken level of comfort. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 42(1), 29-53. doi:10.1177/0095798414552103
- Hankerson, S. H., Fenton, M. C., Geier, T. J., Keyes, K. M., Weissman, M. M., & Hasin, D. S. (2011). Racial differences in symptoms, comorbidity, and treatment for major depressive disorder among black and white adults. *Journal of the National Medical Association*, 103(7), 576–584. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0027-9684(15)30383-7.
- Hankerson, S. H., & Weissman, M. M. (2012). Church-based health programs for mental disorders among African Americans: A review. *Psychiatric Services*, *63*(3), 243-249.
- Hankerson, S. H., Wells, K., Sullivan, M. A., Johnson, J., Smith, L., Crayton, L. S., Miller-Sethi, F., Brooks, C. (T., Rule, A., Ahmad-Llewellyn, J., Rhem, D., Porter, X., Croskey, R., Simpson, E., Butler, C., Roberts, S., James, A., & Jones, L. (2018).
 Partnering with African American churches to create a community coalition for mental health. *Ethnicity & Disease*, 28(Supp), 467–474.
 https://doi.org/10.18865/ed.28.s2.467
- Haynes, T. F., Cheney, A. M., Sullivan, J. G., Bryant, K., Curran, G. M., Olson, M., Cottoms, N., & Reaves, C. (2017). Addressing mental health needs: perspectives of African Americans living in the rural south. *Psychiatric Services*, 68(6), 573–578. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.201600208
- Hays, K. (2015). Black churches' capacity to respond to the mental health needs of African Americans. *Social Work & Christianity*, 42(3).
- Hays, K., & Aranda, M. P. (2016). Faith-based mental health interventions with African Americans: A review. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 26(7), 777–789. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049731515569356

- Heary, C., Hennessy, E., Swords, L., & Corrigan, P. (2017). Stigma towards mental health problems during childhood and adolescence: Theory, research and intervention approaches. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 26(11), 2949-2959.
- Heath, S. (2017, June 8). *Understanding stigma as a mental healthcare barrier*. Patient Engagement HIT. Retrieved from https://patientengagementhit.com/news/understanding-stigma-as-a-mental-healthcare-barrier?utm_content=b1281c3eaa9e820f79ecee0fe1311937&utm_campaign=MHD%
 https://patientengagementhit.com/news/understanding-stigma-as-a-mental-healthcare-barrier?utm_content=b1281c3eaa9e820f79ecee0fe1311937&utm_campaign=MHD%
- Henning-Smith, C., Shippee, T. P., McAlpine, D., Hardeman, R., & Farah, F. (2013).
 Stigma, discrimination, or symptomatology differences in self-reported mental health between US-born and Somalia-born Black Americans. *American Journal of Public Health*, 103(5), 861-867.
- Himle, J. A., Baser, R. E., Taylor, R. J., Campbell, R. D., & Jackson, J. S. (2009). Anxiety disorders among African Americans, blacks of Caribbean descent, and non-Hispanic whites in the United States. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 23(5), 578–590.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.janxdis.2009.01.002
- Hodgkinson, S., Godoy, L., Beers, L. S., & Lewin, A. (2017). Improving mental health access for low-income children and families in the primary care setting. *Pediatrics*, *139*(1), e20151175. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2015-1175
- Holmes, C., Madhav, K., & Burton, B. (2021, February 10). Mental health at the intersection of Black & LGBTQ+ communities webinar recap. Spring Health.
 Retrieved October 16, 2021, from https://www.springhealth.com/mental-health-black-lgbtq-communities-webinar-recap/.

- Hopkins, P. D., & Shook, N. J. (2017). A review of sociocultural factors that may underlie differences in African American and European American anxiety. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 49, 104-113.
- Hudson, D. L., Eaton, J., Banks, A., Sewell, W., & Neighbors, H. (2016). "down in the sewers": Perceptions of depression and depression care among African American men. *American Journal of Men's Health*, 12(1), 126–137. https://doi.org/10.1177/1557988316654864
- Huerto, R. (2020, March 31). *Minority patients benefit from having minority doctors, but*that's a hard match to make. University of Michigan.

 https://labblog.uofmhealth.org/rounds/minority-patients-benefit-from-having-minority-doctors-but-thats-a-hard-match-to-make-0.
- Kaiser Family Foundation. (2020, September 14). 2019 employer health BENEFITS SURVEY. KFF. https://www.kff.org/health-costs/report/2019-employer-health-benefits-survey/.
- Kaliszewski, M. (2020, July 29). Substance abuse statistics for African Americans.

 American Addiction Centers. https://americanaddictioncenters.org/rehab-guide/addiction-statistics/african-americans.
- Kawaii-Bogue, B., Williams, N. J., & MacNear, K. (2017). Mental health care access and treatment utilization in African American communities: An integrative care framework. *Best Practices in Mental Health*, *13*(2), 11-29.
- Kilk, K. A., Williams, S. L., & Reynolds, K. J. (2019). Toward understanding mental illness stigma and help-seeking: A Social Identity Perspective. *Social Science & Medicine*, 222, 35–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2018.12.001

- Kim, K., Lehning, A. J., & Sacco, P. (2020). The role of county characteristics in Mental Health Service use by older African Americans. *Psychiatric Services*, 71(5), 465–471. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.201900351
- Kobau, R., DiIorio, C., Chapman, D. *et al* (2010). Attitudes about mental illness and its treatment: validation of a generic scale for public health surveillance of mental illness associated stigma. *Community Ment Health J* **46**, 164–176 (2010). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10597-009-9191-x
- Kroenke, K., Spitzer, R. L., & Williams, J. B. (2001). The PHQ-9: validity of a brief depression severity measure. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, *16*(9), 606-613.
- Lasater, T. M., Wells, B. L., Carleton, R. A., & Elder, J. P. (1986). The role of churches in disease prevention research studies. *Public Health Reports* (1974-), 101(2), 125–131. http://www.jstor.org/stable/4627829
- Lathan, C. S., Waldman, L. T., Browning, E., Gagne, J., & Emmons, K. (2015).

 Perspectives of African Americans on lung cancer: a qualitative analysis. *The Oncologist*, 20(4), 393.
- Lee, M., Lu, W., Mann-Barnes, T., Nam, J.-H., Nelson, J., & Ma, G. X. (2021). Mental health screening needs and preference in treatment types and providers in African American and Asian American older adults. *Brain Sciences*, *11*(5), 597. https://doi.org/10.3390/brainsci11050597
- Lee-Tauler, S. Y., Eun, J., Corbett, D., & Collins, P. Y. (2018). A systematic review of interventions to improve initiation of mental health care among racial-ethnic minority groups. *Psychiatric Services*, 69(6), 628-647.

- Leonhardt, M. (2019, October 9). Americans now spend twice as much on health care as they did in the 1980s. CNBC make it. Retrieved November 2, 2021, from https://www.cnbc.com/2019/10/09/americans-spend-twice-as-much-on-health-care-today-as-in-the-1980s.html.
- Long, H., & Dam, A. V. (2020, June 5). *Analysis | the black-white economic divide is as wide as it was in 1968*. The Washington Post. Retrieved October 7, 2021, from https://www.washingtonpost.com/business/2020/06/04/economic-divide-black-households/.
- Lukachko, A., Myer, I., & Hankerson, S. (2015). Religiosity and mental health service utilization among African Americans. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 203(8), 578.
- Marcus, M., Walker, T., Swint, J. M., Smith, B. P., Brown, C., Busen, N., ... & von Sternberg, K. (2004). Community-based participatory research to prevent substance abuse and HIV/AIDS in African-American adolescents. *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, 18(4), 347-359.
- Matthews, A. K., Corrigan, P. W., Smith, B. M., & Aranda, F. (2006). A qualitative exploration of African-Americans' attitudes toward mental illness and mental illness treatment seeking. *Rehabilitation Education*, 20(4), 253–268. https://doi.org/10.1891/088970106805065331
- Mental Health America. (2020). *Black and African American Communities and Mental Health*. https://www.mhanational.org/issues/black-and-african-american-communities-and-mental-health

- Mental Health America. (2020). *How race matters: What we can learn from mental health America's screening in 2020*. Mental Health America. Retrieved October 20, 2021, from https://mhanational.org/mental-health-data-2020.
- Miner, J. (2020, August 12). What percent of health insurance is paid by employers?

 Hassle-Free Health Benefits. https://www.peoplekeep.com/blog/what-percent-of-health-insurance-is-paid-by-employers.
- Muvuka, B., Combs, R. M., Ayangeakaa, S. D., Ali, N. M., Wendel, M. L., & Jackson, T. (2020). Health literacy in African-American communities: barriers and strategies. *Health literacy Research and Practice*, 4(3), e138–e143.
 https://doi.org/10.3928/24748307-20200617-01
- Mynatt, S., Wicks, M., & Bolden, L. (2008). Pilot study of insight therapy in African American women. *Archives of Psychiatric Nursing*, 22(6), 364–374. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apnu.2007.10.007
- National Alliance on Mental Illness. (2019, September). *Mental health by the numbers*. Retrieved November 15, 2020, from https://www.nami.org/mhstats
- National Alliance on Mental Illness. (2017). *Hill day 2017*. Retrieved November 15, 2020, from https://www.nami.org/Get-Involved/NAMI-National-Convention/Convention-Program-Schedule/Hill-Day-2017/
- National Institute of Mental Health. (2017). *Any anxiety disorder*. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/statistics/any-anxiety-disorder.
- National Institute of Mental Health. (2021). *Suicide*. Retrieved November 15, 2020, from https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/statistics/suicide.shtml

- National Institute of Mental Health. (2020). *Programs to enhance workforce diversity*. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services

 https://www.nimh.nih.gov/funding/training/programs-to-enhance-workforce-diversity#:~:text=The%20overarching%20goal%20of%20this,studies%20or%20caree rs%20in%20research.
- National Institute of Mental Health. (2019, February). *Major depression*. Retrieved November 15, 2020, from https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/statistics/major-depression.shtml
- Neely-Fairbanks, S. Y., Rojas-Guyler, L., Nabors, L., & Banjo, O. (2018). Mental illness knowledge, stigma, help-seeking behaviors, spirituality and the African American church. *American Journal of Health Studies*, *33*(4).
- Panchal, N., Kamal, R., Garfield, R., & Cox, C. (2021, April 14). *The implications of COVID-19 for mental health and substance use*. KFF.

 https://www.kff.org/coronavirus-covid-19/issue-brief/the-implications-of-covid-19-for-mental-health-and-substance-use/#:~:text=Older% 20adults% 20are% 20also% 20more,prior% 20to% 20the% 20current% 20crisis.
- Pargament, K. I., Koenig, H. G., & Perez, L. M. (2000). The many methods of religious coping: Development and initial validation of the RCOPE. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *56*(4), 519-543.
- Parker, R & Aggelton, P. HIV and AIDS-related stigma and discrimination: a conceptual framework and implications for action. Soc Science & Med. 2003;57:13–24.

- Phelan, J. C., Lucas, J. W., Teachman, B., Braverman, B. H., Namaky, N., & Greenberg, M. (2019). A comparison of status and stigma processes: Explicit and implicit appraisals of "mentally ill people" and "uneducated people". *Stigma and Health*, 4(2), 213.
- Price-Feeney, M, Green, A.E. & Dorison, S. (2020). *All black lives matter: Mental health of black LGBTQ youth*. New York, New York: The Trevor Project.
- Pew Research Center. (2020). *Religion in America: U.S. religious data, demographics and statistics*. Pew Research Center's Religion & Public Life Project. Retrieved October 7, 2021, from https://www.pewforum.org/religious-landscape-study/compare/attendance-at-religious-services/by/racial-and-ethnic-composition/
- Pew Research Center (2008). U.S. religious landscape survey: religious beliefs and practices. Pew Forum on Religion & Public Life. Retrieved October 31, 2021, from https://www.pewforum.org/2008/06/01/u-s-religious-landscape-survey-religious-beliefs-and-practices/
- Pescosolido, B. A., & Martin, J. K. (2015). The stigma complex. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 41(1), 87–116. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-soc-071312-145702
- Pickett-Schenk, S. A. (2002). Church-based support groups for African American families coping with mental illness: outreach and outcomes. *Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal*, 26(2), 173.
- Roberts, A. L., Gilman, S. E., Breslau, J., Breslau, N., & Koenen, K. C. (2011). Race/ethnic differences in exposure to traumatic events, development of post-traumatic stress disorder, and treatment-seeking for post-traumatic stress disorder in the United States. *Psychological Medicine*, *41*(1), 71-83.

- Rodriquez, E. J., Livaudais-Toman, J., Gregorich, S. E., Jackson, J. S., Nápoles, A. M., & Pérez-Stable, E. J. (2018). Relationships between allostatic load, unhealthy behaviors, and depressive disorder in U.S. adults, 2005–2012 NHANES. *Preventive Medicine*, 110, 9-15. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2018.02.002
- Sauceda, J. A., Patel, A. R., Santiago-Rodriguez, E. I., Garcia, D., & Lechuga, J. (2021).

 Testing for differences in the reporting of somatic symptoms of depression in racial/ethnic minorities. Health Education & Behavior, 48(3), 260–264.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/10901981211011925
- Sharma, R. N., Casas, R. N., Crawford, N. M., & Mills, L. N. (2017). Geographic distribution of California mental health professionals in relation to sociodemographic characteristics. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 23(4), 595-600. doi:10.1037/cdp0000147
- Sheats, K. J., Irving, S. M., Mercy, J. A., Simon, T. R., Crosby, A. E., Ford, D. C., Merrick, M. T., Annor, F. B., & Morgan, R. E. (2018). Violence-related disparities
 experienced by black youth and young adults: Opportunities for prevention. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 55(4), 462–469.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2018.05.017
- Stangl, A. L., Earnshaw, V. A., Logie, C. H., van Brakel, W., Simbayi, L. C., Barré, I., & Dovidio, J. F. (2019). The health stigma and discrimination Framework: a global, crosscutting framework to inform research, intervention development, and policy on health-related stigmas. *BMC medicine*, *17*(1), 1-13.

- Starnino, V. R. (2016). When trauma, spirituality, and mental illness intersect: A qualitative case study. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy*, 8(3), 375-383. doi:10.1037/tra0000105
- Stuart, H. (2008). Fighting the stigma caused by mental disorders: past perspectives, present activities, and future directions. *World Psychiatry*, 7(3), 185.
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2020). *National survey on drug use and health: African Americans*. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Office of Behavioral Health.

https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/reports/rpt31099/2019NSDUH-AA/AfricanAmerican%202019%20NSDUH.pdf

Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2020). *The opioid crisis and the Black/African American population: an urgent issue* (PEP20-05-02-001). U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Office of Behavioral Health.

https://store.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/SAMHSA Digital Download/PEP20-05-02-001_508% 20Final.pdf

Suicide Prevention Resource Center. (2018). Risk and protective factors: Black populations [Fact Sheet/Issue Brief]. Education Development Center.

https://sprc.org/sites/default/files/resource-

program/Risk%20and%20Protective%20Factors%20Black_0.pdf

- Taylor, R. J., & Chatters, L. M. (2020). Psychiatric disorders among older black Americans: Within- and between-group differences. *Innovation in Aging*, 4(3). https://doi.org/10.1093/geroni/igaa007
- Taylor, R. J., Mouzon, D. M., Nguyen, A. W., & Chatters, L. M. (2016). Reciprocal family, friendship and church support networks of African Americans: Findings from the National Survey of American Life. *Race and Social Problems*, 8(4), 326-339.
- Taylor, R. E., & Kuo, B. C. H. (2020). A theory-driven exploration of Black Canadians' psychological help-seeking intentions. *Canadian Journal of Counseling and Psychotherapy*, *54*(3), 464–485. Retrieved from https://dev.journalhosting.ucalgary.ca/index.php/rcc/article/view/62851
- The Office of Minority Health. *Mental and behavioral health-African Americans*. The Office of Minority Health. (2021, May 5).

 https://minorityhealth.hhs.gov/omh/browse.aspx?lvl=4&lvlid=24#1.
- The Recovery Village Drug and Alcohol Rehab. (2020, November 3). *Anxiety disorders*facts and statistics. The Recovery Village Drug and Alcohol Rehab.

 https://www.therecoveryvillage.com/mental-health/anxiety/related/anxiety-disorderstatistics/#:~:text=The%20study%20also%20found%20that,African%20Americans%
 3A%208.6%20percent.
- US Census Bureau. (2021, October 18). *Income and poverty in the United States: 2019*.

 Census.gov. Retrieved November 2, 2021, from

 https://www.census.gov/library/publications/2020/demo/p60
 270.html#:~:text=Median%20household%20income%20was%20%2468%2C703,and
 %20Table%20A%2D1).

- Villines, Z. (2020, July 20). Anxiety in Black Americans: Causes, stigmas, and how to cope.
 Medical News Today. Retrieved October 29, 2021, from
 https://www.medicalnewstoday.com/articles/black-anxiety.
- Ward, E. C., & Brown, R. L. (2015). A culturally adapted depression intervention for African American adults experiencing depression: Oh happy day. *American Journal* of Orthopsychiatry, 85(1), 11.
- Ward, E., Wiltshire, J. C., Detry, M. A., & Brown, R. L. (2013). African American men and women's attitude toward mental illness, perceptions of stigma, and preferred coping behaviors. *Nursing Research*, 62(3), 185.
- Watkins, D. C., Assari, S., & Johnson-Lawrence, V. (2015). Race and ethnic group differences in comorbid major depressive disorder, generalized anxiety disorder, and chronic medical conditions. *Journal of Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities*, 2(3), 385–394. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40615-015-0085-z
- Weber, S. R., & Pargament, K. I. (2014). The role of religion and spirituality in mental health. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, 27(5), 358-363.
- White, R. (2019, February 12). Why mental health care is stigmatized in black communities. USC Suzanne Dworak-Peck School of Social Work. Retrieved

 November 1, 2021, from https://dworakpeck.usc.edu/news/why-mental-health-care-stigmatized-black-communities.
- Williams, D. R. (2018). Stress and the mental health of populations of color: Advancing our understanding of race-related Stressors. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 59(4), 466–485. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022146518814251

- Williams, M. T., Beckmann-Mendez, D. A., & Turkheimer, E. (2013). Cultural barriers to African American participation in anxiety disorders research. *Journal of the National Medical Association*, 105(1), 33–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0027-9684(15)30083-3
- Williams, L., Gorman, R., & Hankerson, S. (2014). Implementing a mental health ministry committee in faith-based organizations: The promoting emotional wellness and spirituality program. *Social Work in Health Care*, *53*(4), 414-434.
- World Health Organization. (2020a, January 30). *Depression*. Retrieved November 15, 2020, from https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/depression
- World Health Organization. (2020b). *Mental health*. Retrieved from https://www.who.int/health-topics/mental-health#tab=tab_2
- World Health Organization. (2001). The World Health Report 2001: Mental health: new understanding, new hope.

VITA

Tacia Burgin was born October 13, 1996, in Kansas City, Missouri. She holds her Bachelor of General Studies in Psychology from the University of Kansas in Lawrence, Kansas, where she graduated in 2019. In August 2019, Tacia began pursuing her Ph.D. in Clinical Psychology at the University of Missouri – Kansas City.